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COVER ART

One of the firm’s values, Force of Ideas, is displayed in a representation 
inspired by binary code, a coding system using the binary digits 0 and 1 to 
represent a letter, digit, or other character in a computer. 

FORCE OF IDEAS: The belief that sound and inspired ideas triumph, serving 
as the leaven to great organizations and carrying the enterprise forward as 
surely as organizational resources, market power, or sheer effort.



The Advisory Board Company is the leading health 
care and higher education software, analytics, and 
services provider, driving transformation and ROI 
for our members and in our markets.

We help hospitals, health systems, and universities 
deliver on their higher calling: to provide superior 
patient care and education to their communities.
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FISCAL YEAR 2014 HIGHLIGHTS

1) Adjusted results are not presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
(GAAP). See page 17 for a reconciliation to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure.
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Robert Musslewhite
Chairman and Chief Executive O cer

“From every angle—our market-leading industry 
positions, our positive impact on our members’ 
performance, our �nancial results, our investment 
in future expansion and growth, our attraction 
and retention of star talent, and our service to our 
communities—Fiscal 2014 was a fantastic year.”
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It is my privilege to report that The Advisory Board 
Company continued our track record of success in 
Fiscal Year 2014. From every angle—our market-
leading industry positions, our positive impact on 
our members’ performance, our financial results, 
our investment in future expansion and growth, our 
attraction and retention of star talent, and our service to 
our communities—Fiscal 2014 was a fantastic year. I am 
pleased to have the opportunity to share with you more 
detail on our many accomplishments from the year.

OUTSTANDING MEMBER IMPACT

The fundamental building block of our success is our 
ability to deliver deep, tangible value to our members, 
and we continue to do so by providing solutions to 
their most challenging problems. In health care, our 
members find themselves facing major industry 
transformation due to health care reform, value-based 
reimbursement structures, increased consumer 
decision making, an explosion of available data, 
and the imperative to build entirely new capabilities 
in order to thrive; higher education faces similarly 
transformative challenges including public funding 
cuts, challenges to traditional tuition, a heightened 
focus on value and transparency, and new online 
teaching models. This environment of change in both 
markets has provided us tremendous opportunities to 
deepen our relationships with our members, enhancing 
the value they derive through their work with us.

The measurable impact we provide was very evident 
in the stories of five members we honored with 
performance improvement awards this year:

• Through Crimson, our industry-leading cloud-
based performance analytics platform, Covenant 
Health improved adherence to evidence-based 
medications, reduced preventable admissions, 
and increased generics utilization, documenting 
an aggregated $5.6 million in savings.

• MemorialCare Health System used Crimson to 
engage physician champions, educate medical staff, 
and make available individualized benchmarking 
data, generating $15.3 million in savings for direct 
costs by reducing utilization and lengths of stay—
all while improving demonstrated quality.

• Our Self-Pay Performance program helped Kalispell 
Regional Medical Center improve collections 
performance and cycle time for “self-pay” patients 
for an impact of more than $1.2 million with no 
increase in write-offs as a percent of total revenues. 

• Methodist Health System increased collections at 
the point of service by nearly $1.9 million through 
our Revenue Cycle Performance programs by 
focusing on patient access and point-of-service 
collections, including standardizing scheduling, 
improving precertification management, and 
automating medical necessity checking. 

• Our Revenue Cycle Performance program helped 
Houston Methodist reduce its potential for 
denied payments by $7.2 million by identifying 
that discrete front- and back-end data posed a 
barrier to effective performance improvement.

These are just a few of the many documented examples 
of measurable value our members institutions derive 
from their work with us, and given the tangible impact 
we provide, it is no wonder that our member renewal 
rate for the year was 90% and that we work with the 
best minds in our markets, including all 18 of the 
2013–2014 U.S. News and World Report honor roll 
hospitals, 99 of the 100 largest health care delivery 
systems, 30 of the world’s largest pharmaceutical and 
medical device companies, and the majority of the U.S. 
News and World Report top 100 universities for 2014.

Our position at the center of the health care and higher 
education industries provides us the opportunity 
to influence in a unique way the dramatic changes 
taking place in these markets. This year we hosted two 
innovative forums, the inaugural National Population 
Health Symposium and the Care Innovation Summit 
(the latter co-hosted with the Aspen Institute) where 
we convened high-powered policymakers, providers, 
and leading innovators from all parts of the health 
care continuum to address at a macro level the top 
challenges facing our country’s health care system. 
These events were very well received, and participants 
recognized that only The Advisory Board Company, 
with our unique set of industry relationships, deep 
expertise on best practice, and close link to what 
is happening on the ground, could have pulled 
together such influential groups to address these 
critical topics at such a high level of sophistication.

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
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90%
Membership Base Growth

10%



In addition, this year we kicked off two other projects that 
expand our impact in the markets we serve. The first was 
a project to help the state of Rhode Island develop a new, 
state-based, multi-payer health care delivery and payment 
system transformation model as part of a $300 million 
national effort by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid 
Services (CMS). While still in its early stages, this project 
puts The Advisory Board Company at the forefront of care 
transformation at the state level and opens up opportunity 
for us to have an even greater impact on health care 
across the country. The second was a project with the Bill 
& Melinda Gates Foundation to investigate the drivers of 
higher education costs in the United States. Selection by the 
Gates Foundation was a recognition of both our analytical 
horsepower and our robust set of relationships with colleges 
and universities, and it paves the way for us to expand our 
impact beyond individual members to the higher education 
system nationally, just as we have done within health care.

STRONG FINANCIAL RESULTS and 
ONGOING INVESTMENT IN GROWTH

The member value we deliver is the starting point of a 
virtuous cycle that drives our financial performance and 
enables our ongoing investment in future growth. This 
cycle again yielded strong financial results for The Advisory 
Board Company in Fiscal Year 2014: our 90% member 
renewal rate and success at securing new booked business 
drove 16% revenue growth to $520.6 million for the year. 
In addition to growing our number of members by 10%, 
we also increased the size of our member relationships to 
an average contract value of $119,500. Overall, contract 
value (the aggregate annualized revenue attributable to all 
agreements in effect at a particular date) increased 16% to 
$541.9 million, up from $466.3 million as of March 31, 2013.

By providing members measurable impact, we earn their 
trust and the right to work with them in deeper and more 
comprehensive ways. This drives incremental growth 
for us, which, given our scalable model, is very profitable 
growth. Our profitable growth affords us the ability both 
to reinvest in the business and to deliver strong results for 
our shareholders: in Fiscal Year 2014, adjusted EBITDA was 
$92.2 million, non-GAAP earnings per diluted share was 
$1.22, and cash flow from operations was $76.7 million.

This year we also invested approximately 800 basis 
points of margin back into the business. Much of 
that was invested in launching new products that will 
both meet our members’ needs and drive our growth 
for many years into the future. These include:

• Student Success Performance Program, our first renewable 
software-based program for the higher education 
market, which helps colleges and universities positively 
inflect outcomes with at-risk and off-path students

• Crimson Care Management, which helps members 
build key population health management 
capabilities through analytics and a comprehensive 
care management workflow tool 

• Payment Integrity Forecaster Program, which 
enables members to understand and to project 
financial scenarios under value-based care dynamics 
through a uniquely flexible contracting solution able 
to integrate data across multiple care settings

• Advancement Forum, which helps improve effectiveness 
of university fundraising officers and their departments

• Population Health Advisor Program, which helps hospitals 
and health systems prioritize, execute, and monitor progress 
of critical population health initiatives, including optimizing 
primary care and establishing the medical home model, 
segmenting patients for more effective care management, 
and developing post-acute care network strategy

We continue to complement our organic new program 
development with acquisitions that improve our 
ability to address our members’ challenges. In Fiscal 
Year 2014, we announced the acquisitions of Medical 
Referral Source, Care Team Connect, and HealthPost, 
and we are excited about the new software and 
capabilities that they provide to augment and continue 
to build out our successful Crimson platform. 

Collectively, all our investments in meeting members’ 
needs continue the virtuous cycle by allowing us the 
opportunity to work with them in deeper, more meaningful 
ways that will drive greater value and ROI. Given our track 
record of success using this formula, we are confident 
that these investments will generate revenue in future 
years and sustain our strong topline growth rates.
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WORLD-CLASS TALENT

No update on our business would be complete without a 
discussion of our employees, whose dedication, talent, 
energy, and engagement drive the impact we have for 
our members and, ultimately, our business success.

Given their importance, we remain very focused on 
continuing to attract top talent. Our performance here is 
outstanding, and our 2,800 employees are truly the best 
in their fields. As our company has grown and evolved, we 
have not only increased our number of employees but also 
added tremendous depth and breadth to the expertise they 
represent. Our staff’s knowledge and capabilities span from 
software engineering to research, from user experience 
to management consulting, from writing to network 
development, from teaching to graphic design and beyond.

Our members consistently comment on the caliber of 
our talent. One executive said, “The support has been 
invaluable, absolutely the differentiator from other software 
products. We have never had the kind of support from 
other companies that I get from our Dedicated Advisor.” 
Another mentioned, “I cannot tell you how impressed the 
other Dean and I were, not just with the process but with 
how sharp our Research Manager was. On that 20-minute 
phone call that he understood exactly what we needed to 
know—both of our jaws dropped!” A third member said, 
“The software is great but the help our Dedicated Advisors 
provide is even better; even though I know they must be 
extremely busy, we feel like we are their only customer. 
They are kind, thoughtful, really listen, and always come 
back with a solution that hits the nail on the head. It is a 
real partnership. Whatever training you are doing with 
your staff, it translates to excellent customer service.”

Not only do we hire outstanding people, but our company 
growth provides individual employees unparalleled 
opportunities for new assignments, new skill development, 
promotions, and advancement. This, along with our 
unique culture that is animated by the force of ideas 
and the spirit of generosity, has led to unprecedented 
levels of retention and engagement among our employee 
base. We also continue to invest in robust training and 
development, accelerated programs for exceptional 
performers, and our women’s leadership group. Our 
talent focus is widely recognized: most recently, we were 
named the top place to work on Modern Healthcare’s 
Best Places to Work Large Companies list.

Robert Musslewhite
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

EXCEPTIONAL SERVICE TO 
OUR COMMUNITIES

In reflecting on the past year’s talent-related 
accomplishments, the highlight that most stands out was 
our Community Impact challenge. I am incredibly proud 
to report that through the commitment of our employees 
to improving our communities, last year The Advisory 
Board Company became the first for-profit company 
of our size to achieve 100% employee participation in 
community service. Given that the average national 
corporate service participation rate is 30%, the fact 
that 100% of our mission-driven staff served over 500 
community partners through 32,000 hours of service and 
65 distinct pro bono projects is particularly impressive.

As a result of our employees’ dedication and our innovative 
Community Impact program, we recently received the 2014 
Corporate Engagement Award of Excellence from Points 
of Light, the world’s largest organization dedicated to 
volunteer service. We were thrilled to accept the prestigious 
award, which recognizes outstanding employee volunteer 
programs that engage workers and improve communities. 

Our approach to community service aligns with the work 
we do every day to provide strategic solutions to our 
members. Given the many valuable capabilities of our 
employees, we are able to drive the broadest and deepest 
social impact through our employee volunteerism efforts. 
Our employees serve our community partners with the 
same passion they exhibit when serving our health care 
and higher education members; their work on both fronts 
improves the lives of millions of people around the globe.

I close with my deepest gratitude to them for the 
outstanding work that they do, and to you for your  
interest and support.

Sincerely,
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“The firm aims to do good and do well, and is constantly 
examining its own programs and those of others to find 
innovative ways to make positive change both on and 
off the clock in education and health care.”
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Our Community Impact

In Service to Our Communities

Impact on Our People

 Community Impact in Numbers  Impact on Our Members

“I can’t overstate the enormity of your 
contributions. Your skill, insight, and expertise 
were real game-changers, and we are so grateful.”

Ellen Lawton 
Executive Director of National Medical-Legal Partnership

Impact on Our Community Partners

Recognition and Awards

“Our partnership with The Advisory Board Company 
has surpassed our hopes. This is one corporation 
with not only tons of smart and talented people but 
with a very BIG heart. We would not be where we are 
today without you.”

Kelly McShane 
Executive Director, Community of Hope

2014 Employee Engagement Survey: 85% Agree

“The firm demonstrates its core value of 
improving the local communities in which we 
live and work.”

“The company’s strong sense of mission makes (staff) feel 
connected to something larger…the company’s culture 
(is) built around service and respect and decency.”

“The motivation, talent, and social 
consciousness the firm’s volunteers 
demonstrate is striking.”

2014 Points of Light, Corporate Engagement Award of Excellence

#1 Best Large Company to Work For
2013 Modern Healthcare magazine;  
Community Impact cited as major contributor

Volunteer Hours

32,000

In Volunteer Impact

$1.7M 3x Finalist for the Jefferson 
Award for Public Service
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500+

Community 
Partners Served

“Intermountain has successfully worked with The Advisory Board
Company on numerous process improvement projects that
have resulted in…more affordable healthcare for our patients
and communities. What I have appreciated most recently has
been their willingness to partner with us on a pro-bono basis
to improve our community benefit programs…as a not-for-profit
organization our behaviors should demonstrate our best
practices in providing extraordinary community service.
The Advisory Board Company has been a great help to us
in these endeavors.”

Bert Zimmerli, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
Intermountain Healthcare

10 hours of paid day 
time leave per employee 
per month, most 
generous policy in the 
nation

Scott Schirmeier, Executive Vice President
The Advisory Board Company

“Through our Community Impact programs, 
our employees are developing new skills, 
strengthening their networks, and renewing their 
commitment to our business and mission with a 
heightened sense of purpose.”

10

ENGAGEMENT LEADING TO IMPACT

Employee 
Participation 
in Service

Mary Van Hoose, Chief Talent Officer
The Advisory Board Company

“We’re mobilizing our staff to leverage their unique business skills not only to drive benefit in 
our own communities, but also to inspire and equip our 4,500+ member organizations to 
improve their social responsibility and sustainability efforts. This work ultimately enhances 
employee engagement and amplifies our impact in public health and education.”

Average in  
Corporate USA
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Middlesex Hospital
MidMichigan Medical Center - Gratiot
Mississippi Baptist Medical Center
Munroe Regional Medical Center
Northside Hospital
Norwalk Hospital
Oswego Hospital
Palos Community Hospital
Presence Resurrection Medical Center
Reading Health System
Sanford Health Bismarck
Sentara Martha Jefferson Hospital
Sharon Regional Health System
Sibley Memorial Hospital
St. Joseph Regional Medical Center
St. Luke’s Hospital
St. Luke’s Regional Medical Center
Tucson Medical Center
Valley Baptist Medical Center
Virginia Hospital Center
Washington Health System
West Georgia Health

HEALTH CARE CORPORATIONS

Abbott Vascular
Abiomed, Inc.
ACCELITECH
Accuray Incorporated
Allscripts, LLC
Amgen USA
Blue Cross Blue Shield of Florida
Boston Scientific Corporation
Bristol-Myers Squibb
California HealthCare Foundation
Capital Blue Cross
Cardinal Health Inc.
CareFusion 303
Cook Group Incorporated
Covidien Ltd.
Cubist Pharmaceuticals
Edwards Lifesciences Corporation
Elekta, Inc.
Eli Lilly and Company
GE Healthcare Integrated IT Solutions
GlaxoSmithKline
Hill-Rom
HOK Group, Inc.
Kaiser Permanente
McKesson Corporation
Medical Doctor Associates
The Medicines Company
MEDRAD, Inc.
Medtronic, Inc.
Microsoft US Health and Life Sciences
Olympus America
Pfizer, Inc.
Philips Healthcare

Gillette Children’s Specialty Healthcare
The Harold Leever Regional Cancer Center 
Hospital for Special Surgery
Kaiser Foundation Hospitals
Karmanos Cancer Institute
Mayo Clinic
Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center
Methodist Specialty and Transplant Hospital
Miami Children’s Hospital
Moffitt Cancer Center
Nationwide Children’s Hospital
Nemours
Ochsner Health System
Richard M. Ross Heart Hospital
Roswell Park Cancer Institute
The Specialty Hospital of Meridian
St. Christopher’s Hospital for Children
St. Luke’s Lakeside Hospital
University of Texas M.D. Anderson 

Cancer Center
University Specialty Hospital

COMMUNITY HOSPITALS

Anderson Regional Medical Center
Beebe Medical Center
Billings Clinic
Bronson Battle Creek
Bronx-Lebanon Hospital Center
Cape Cod Hospital
Cape Fear Valley Health System
CarolinaEast Health System
Carson Tahoe Hospital
Charleston Area Medical Center
The Christ Hospital
Danbury Hospital
DCH Regional Medical Center
Delnor Hospital
East Jefferson General Hospital
Eastern Maine Medical Center
El Camino Hospital
Elliot Hospital
Evergreen Healthcare
Floyd Memorial Hospital and 

Health Care Services 
Glens Falls Hospital
Heartland Health
Huntington Memorial Hospital
Lancaster General Hospital
Lutheran Hospital
Maine Medical Center
Marietta Memorial Hospital
Marquette General Hospital
Martin Luther King Community Hospital
McLaren-Greater Lansing
McLaren-Macomb
Medical Center of Central Georgia
Memorial Hospital of South Bend

Roche Diagnostics Corporation
Salix Pharmaceuticals
Sanofi
Sheridan Healthcare, Inc.
Shields Healthcare
Siemens Medical Solutions, USA
SmithGroupJJR
St. Jude Medical, Inc.
Stryker Corporation
United HealthCare Corporation
Varian Medical Systems
Walgreens

INTERNATIONAL

The American British Cowdray  
Medical Center

Auckland District Health Board 
Bumrungrad International Hospital
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust
Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Liège
Hospital Israelita Albert Einstein Brazil
King Faisal Specialist Hospital
St Vincent’s & Mater Health Sydney
University Hospital Bern
Vancouver Coastal Health

UNIVERSITIES

Arizona State University
Baylor University
Carnegie Mellon University
Colorado State University
Dartmouth College
Georgetown University
Georgia Institute of Technology
Georgia State University
Harvard University
Indiana University
Kent State University
Louisiana State University
New York University
Oregon State University
Pennsylvania State University
Rice University
Syracuse University
University of California, Berkeley
University of Missouri-Columbia
University of Pennsylvania
University of Utah
University of Virginia
Vanderbilt University
Virginia Polytechnic Institute 

and State University
Wake Forest University
Washington University in St. Louis

Representative Sample from The Advisory Board Company’s 4,500+ Members

ACADEMIC MEDICAL CENTERS

Beth Israel Medical Center
Brigham and Women’s Hospital
Glendale Adventist Medical Center
Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania
Indiana University Health University Hospital
Johns Hopkins Health System
Loyola University Health System
Massachusetts General Hospital
Montefiore Medical Center
New York University Langone Medical Center
Northwestern Memorial Hospital
Penn State Milton S. Hershey Medical Center
Ronald Reagan UCLA Medical Center
Saint Peter’s University Hospital
Stanford Hospital and Clinics
Stony Brook University Medical Center
SUNY Upstate Medical University
UAB Health System
UAMS Medical Center
UCSF Medical Center
UMass Memorial Healthcare
University Health System
University Health System, Inc.
University Hospitals
University Medical Center
University of Chicago Hospitals
University of Connecticut Health System
University of Illinois Hospital & 

Health Sciences System
The University of Kansas Hospital Authority
University of Louisville Hospital
University of Maryland Medical Center
University of Michigan Medical Center
University of Mississippi Medical Center
University of Missouri Health Care
University of Nebraska Medical Center
University of Toledo Medical Center
University of Virginia Health System
University of Washington Medical Center
University of Wisconsin Hospital and Clinics
Vanderbilt University Medical Center
Wake Forest Baptist Health
Wexner Medical Center at the 

Ohio State University
Yale-New Haven Hospital

TEACHING HOSPITALS

Beaumont Health System
CHRISTUS Santa Rosa Health Care
Detroit Medical Center
Detroit Receiving Hospital & 

University Health Center
Einstein Medical Center

Florida Hospital Tampa
Forbes Regional Hospital
Grady Health System
Harborview Medical Center
Harper University Hospital
Harris Health System
Hurley Medical Center
Johns Hopkins Bayview Medical Center
Lenox Hill Hospital
Long Beach Memorial Medical Center
Mayo Clinic Health System
Overlook Medical Center
Parkland Health and Hospital System
Queens Hospital Center
Rhode Island Hospital
Sinai Hospital of Baltimore
St. Agnes Continuing Care Center
St. Luke’s Roosevelt Hospital Center
St. Luke’s Health System
St. Vincent Healthcare
University of Vermont Medical Center
Vidant Health

MAJOR HEALTH SYSTEMS

Adventist Health
Advocate Health Care
Ardent Health Services
Ascension Health
Atlantic Health
Aurora Health Care
Avera Health
Baptist Health System
Baptist Memorial Health Care Corporation 
Barnabas Health
Baylor Scott & White
BJC Healthcare
Bon Secours Health System
Carilion Clinic
Catholic Health Initiatives
Catholic Health Partners
Cedars-Sinai Medical Center
Community Health Systems
Continuum Health Partners
Dignity Health
Duke University Health System
Fairview Hospital and Health System
HCA-Hospitals Corporation of America
Health Services
HealthEast Care System
Henry Ford Health System
Hospital Sisters Health System
IASIS Healthcare Corporation
Indiana University Health
Intermountain Health Care

John Muir Health
Legacy Health System
Lehigh Valley Health Network
Lifepoint
McLaren Health Care
MemorialCare
Meridian Health
Methodist Le Bonheur Healthcare
New York City Health & Hospitals Corporation
North Shore-LIJ Health System
NorthShore University HealthSystem
OhioHealth
OSF Healthcare System
Palmetto Health
Partners HealthCare
Piedmont Healthcare
Premier Health Partners
Presbyterian Healthcare Services
Providence Services
Rush University Medical Center
SCL Health System
Scripps Health
Sharp HealthCare
SSM Health Care Corporate Office
Sutter Health
Swedish Health Services
Tenet Healthcare Corporation
Texas Health Resources
Trinity Health
UNC Health Care
UPMC Health System
Vanguard Health Systems
Veterans Integrated Health Networks

CLINICS AND SPECIALTY HOSPITALS

Arizona Heart Hospital
Aurora Surgery Center
Avera Heart Hospital of South Dakota
Banner Baywood Heart Hospital
Baptist Memorial Hospital for Women
Children’s National Health System
Children’s Healthcare of Atlanta
Children’s Hospital of Los Angeles
Children’s Hospital of Pittsburgh
Children’s Medical Center of Dallas
Cincinnati Children’s Hospital Medical Center
Cleveland Clinic Health System
Crystal Clinic Orthopaedic Center
Dana-Farber Cancer Institute
Don and Sybil Harrington Cancer Center
Emory University Hospital 

Orthopaedic & Spine Hospital
Fresno Heart & Surgical Hospital
Galichia Heart Hospital

OUR MEMBER IMPACT

Crimson

1,000+-Bed Community Hospital

$5.6M
UTILIZATION SAVINGS

Student Success Performance Program

Public Research University

$500K+
INCREASED TUITION REVENUE

Advisory Board Consulting

100-Bed Hospital

$4.0M
FINANCIAL IMPACT

Revenue Cycle Performance Program

500-Bed Integrated Delivery System

$1.9M
INCREASED COLLECTIONS

Nursing Performance Program

150-Bed Hospital

$1.9M
LABOR SAVINGS

Surgery Performance Program

400-Bed Hospital

$2.25M
SUPPLY COST SAVINGS

ENGAGEMENT LEADING TO IMPACT

Employee 
Participation 
in Service

Mary Van Hoose, Chief Talent Officer
The Advisory Board Company

“We’re mobilizing our staff to leverage their unique business skills not only to drive benefit in 
our own communities, but also to inspire and equip our 4,500+ member organizations to 
improve their social responsibility and sustainability efforts. This work ultimately enhances 
employee engagement and amplifies our impact in public health and education.”

Average in  
Corporate USA
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Selected Financial Data
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries

The following table sets forth selected financial and operating data for the fiscal years and as of the dates indicated. The 
selected financial data presented below as of March 31, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013, and 2014 and for the five fiscal years 
in the period ended March 31, 2014 have been derived from our financial statements, which have been audited by Ernst 
& Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm. You should read the selected financial data presented 
below in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements, the notes to the consolidated financial statements, and 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included elsewhere in this 
Annual Report.

Year Ended March 31,
(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2010 2011 1 2012 1,2 2013 1,2 2014
Statements of Income Data:
Revenue $ 232,610 $ 283,439 $ 370,345 $ 450,837 $ 520,596
Costs and expenses:
 Cost of services, excluding depreciation and amortization 117,122 144,906 197,937 237,605 272,523
 Member relations and marketing 52,533 64,295 73,875 85,264 96,298
 General and administrative 32,133 38,225 47,892 62,185 74,169
 Depreciation and amortization 7,712 10,108 14,269 20,308 30,420
 Write-off of capitalized software 7,397 — — — —
  Total costs and expenses 216,897 257,534 333,973 405,362 473,410
   Operating income 15,713 25,905 36,372 45,475 47,186
Other income, net 2,340 1,866 3,034 2,604 2,706
    Income from continuing operations before provision for 

 income taxes and equity in loss of unconsolidated entities 18,053 27,771 39,406 48,079 49,892
Provision for income taxes (6,192) (9,691) (15,207) (18,023) (19,208)
Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities — — (1,337) (6,756) (6,051)
   Net income from continuing operations 11,861 18,080 22,862 23,300 24,633
Discontinued operations:
 (Loss)/income from discontinued operations, net of tax 3 (428) 444 286 — —
 Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax — — 2,155 — —
   Net (loss)/income from discontinued operations (428) 444 2,441 — —
    Net income before allocation to noncontrolling interest 11,433 18,524 25,303 23,300 24,633
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest — — — 108 119
    Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 11,433 $ 18,524 $ 25,303 $ 23,408 $ 24,752
Earnings per share—basic:
  Net income from continuing operations attributable 

 to common stockholders $ 0.38 $ 0.57 $ 0.70 $ 0.67 $ 0.69
  Net (loss)/income from discontinued operations 

 attributable to common stockholders $ (0.01) $ 0.02 $ 0.07 $ — $ —
Net income attributable to common stockholders per share—basic $ 0.37 $ 0.59 $ 0.77 $ 0.67 $ 0.69
Earnings per share—diluted:
  Net income from continuing operations attributable 

 to common stockholders $ 0.38 $ 0.55 $ 0.66 $ 0.64 $ 0.67
  Net (loss) / income from discontinued operations 

 attributable to common stockholders $ (0.01) $ 0.02 $ 0.07 $ — $ —
Net income attributable to common stockholders 
 per share—diluted $ 0.37 $ 0.57 $ 0.73 $ 0.64 $ 0.67
Weighted average number of shares outstanding:
 Basic 31,030 31,466 32,808 34,723 35,909
 Diluted 31,384 32,830 34,660 36,306 36,959

1) These periods were restated due to errors attributable to the omission of certain payroll-related benefits from the Company’s capitalization of software 
development costs and the recording of accounts receivable and deferred revenue. See Note 2, “Summary of significant accounting policies” to our 
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for additional information.

2) These periods were restated due to an error related to the timing of a prior period acquisition-related earn-out fair value adjustment. See Note 2, 
“Summary of significant accounting policies” to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for additional information.

3) Income/(loss) from discontinued operations for all periods presented includes the operating results for OptiLink, a business that was sold in January 2012.
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Year Ended March 31,
(In thousands except per share amounts) 2010 2011 1 2012 1,2 2013 1,2 2014
Stock-based compensation expense included 
in Statement of Income:
Costs and expenses:
 Cost of services $ 3,930 $ 2,763 $ 3,440 $ 3,975 $ 5,527
 Member relations and marketing 2,248 1,663 2,133 2,643 3,688
 General and administrative 5,974 4,366 6,413 7,295 9,002
  Total costs and expenses 12,152 8,792 11,986 13,913 18,217
  Operating income (12,152) (8,792) (11,986) (13,913) (18,217)
  Net income attributable to common stockholders $ (7,984) $ (5,725) $ (7,359) $ (8,686) $ (11,204)
Impact on earnings per share:
  Net income attributable to common stockholders 

 per share—diluted $ (0.26) $ (0.18) $ (0.21) $ (0.24) $ (0.30)

March 31,
(In thousands) 2010 2011 1 2012 1,2 2013 1,2 2014
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 61,238 $ 30,378 $ 60,642 $ 57,829 $ 23,129
Marketable securities 51,682 86,179 127,444 156,839 164,396
Working capital deficit (20,850) (65,953) (28,783) (26,761) (59,912)
Total assets 386,772 491,432 706,307 897,933 1,041,335
Deferred revenue 204,112 262,751 391,920 503,025 587,359
Total stockholders’ equity 111,815 148,836 217,302 282,820 337,059

March 31,
(Unaudited) 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
Other Operating Data:
Membership programs offered 44 49 53 57 62
Total members 2,916 3,179 3,726 4,114 4,534
Member institution renewal rate 3 89% 91% 92% 90% 90%
Contract value (in thousands) 4 $ 253,267 $ 304,299 $ 398,313 $ 466,329 $ 541,903
Contract value per member 5 $ 86,854 $ 95,722 $ 106,901 $ 113,352 $ 119,520

1) These periods were restated due to errors attributable to the omission of certain payroll-related benefits from the Company’s capitalization of software 
development costs and the recording of accounts receivable and deferred revenue. See Note 2, “Summary of significant accounting policies” to our 
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for additional information.

2) These periods were restated due to an error related to the timing of a prior period acquisition-related earn-out fair value adjustment. See Note 2, 
“Summary of significant accounting policies” to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for additional information.

3) Indicates the percentage of member institutions at the beginning of a fiscal year that hold one or more memberships in any of our programs at the 
beginning of the next fiscal year, adjusted to reflect mergers and other acquisitions or different affiliations of members that result in changes of control of 
individual institutions.

4) Represents the aggregate annualized revenue attributable to all agreements in effect at a particular date, without regard to the initial term or remaining 
duration of any such agreement.

5) Represents total contract value divided by the number of members.
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A reconciliation of our non-GAAP financial measure to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure 
is provided below.

Year Ended March 31,
(Unaudited, in thousands) 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 11,433 $ 18,524 $ 25,304 $ 23,408 $ 24,752
Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities — — 1,337 6,756 6,051
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax — — (2,155) — —
Provision for income taxes from continuing operations 6,192 9,691 15,206 18,023 19,208
Loss/(income) from discontinued operations, net of tax 428 (444) (286) — —
Other income, net (2,340) (1,866) (3,034) (2,604) (2,706)
Depreciation and amortization 8,035 10,108 14,817 20,308 30,420
Acquisition and transaction charges 1,123 408 648 851 573
Fair value adjustment to acquisition-related earn-out liabilities — 1,500 7,678 3,759 (4,350)
Write-off of capitalized software 7,397 — — — —
Option cancellation charge 1,937 — — — —
Share-based compensation expense 10,216 8,792 11,987 13,913 18,217
 Adjusted EBITDA $ 44,421 $ 46,713 $ 71,502 $ 84,414 $ 92,165
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Comparison of Cumulative Total Return Among The Advisory Board Company,  
the S&P 500 Index, the Russell 2000 Index, and the Nasdaq Composite Index 1

Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return, Assumes Initial Investment of $100

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock during the five-year period 
from March 31, 2009, through March 31, 2014, with the cumulative total return on the S&P 500 Index, the Russell 2000 
Index, and the Nasdaq Composite Index for the same period. The comparison assumes that $100 was invested on 
March 31, 2009, in our common stock and in each of the foregoing indices and assumes reinvestment of dividends, if 
any. The comparisons in the graph below are based on historical data and are not intended to forecast the possible future 
performance of our common stock.

Stock Performance Graph
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries

The Advisory Board Company S&P 500 Index
Total Returns

Russell 2000 Index Nasdaq Composite Index
Total Returns
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The Advisory 
Board Company

S&P 500 
Index

Russell 
2000 Index

Nasdaq 
Composite Index

March 31, 2009 $100 $100 $100 $100
March 31, 2010 $190 $150 $163 $158
March 31, 2011 $311 $173 $205 $185
March 31, 2012 $534 $188 $204 $208
March 31, 2013 $634 $214 $238 $223
March 31, 2014 $775 $261 $297 $290

1)  On June 18, 2012, the Company effected a two-for-one stock split to shareholders of record as of 
May 31, 2012. All per share information has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the stock split.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries

Overview
We provide insight-driven performance improvement solutions to approximately 4,500 organizations, including hospitals, 
health systems, pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, health care insurers, medical device companies, colleges, 
universities, and other health care-focused organizations and educational institutions. Members of each program typically 
are charged a fixed fee and have access to an integrated set of services that may include best practice research studies, 
executive education seminars, customized research briefs, cloud-based access to the program’s content database, and 
performance technology software.

Our membership business model allows us to create value for our members by providing proven solutions to common and 
complex problems as well as high-quality content and innovative software on a broad set of relevant issues. Our growth 
has been driven by strong renewal rates, ongoing addition of new memberships in our existing programs, continued new 
program launches, acquisition activity, and continued annual price increases. Our member institution renewal rate was 
92%, 90%, and 90% for fiscal 2012, 2013, and 2014, respectively. We believe high renewal rates reflect of our members’ 
recognition of the value they derive from participating in our programs. Our revenue grew 21.7% in fiscal 2013 over fiscal 
2012 and 15.5% in fiscal 2014 over fiscal 2013. Our contract value increased 17.1% to $466.3 million as of March 31, 2013 
from March 31, 2012 and 16.2% to $541.9 million as of March 31, 2014 from March 31, 2013. We define contract value 
as the aggregate annualized revenue attributable to all agreements in effect at a particular date, without regard to the 
initial term or remaining duration of any such agreement. In each of our programs, we generally invoice and collect fees 
in advance of accrual revenue recognition.

Our operating costs and expenses consist of cost of services, member relations and marketing expense, general and 
administrative expenses, and depreciation and amortization expenses.

• Cost of services includes the costs associated with the production and delivery of our products and services, 
consisting of compensation for research personnel, in-house faculty, software developers, and consultants; costs of 
the organization and delivery of membership meetings, teleconferences, and other events; production of published 
materials; technology license fees; costs of developing and supporting our cloud-based content and performance 
technology software; and fair value adjustments to acquisition-related earn-out liabilities.

• Member relations and marketing expense includes the costs of acquiring new members and the costs of account 
management, and includes compensation (including sales incentives), travel and entertainment expenses, and 
costs for training of personnel, sales and marketing materials, and associated support services.

• General and administrative expenses include the costs of human resources and recruiting; finance and accounting; 
legal support; management information systems; real estate and facilities management; corporate development; 
new program development; and other administrative functions.

• Depreciation and amortization expense includes the cost of depreciation of our property and equipment; amortization 
of costs associated with the development of software and tools that are offered as part of certain of our membership 
programs; and amortization of acquired intangibles.

Our operating costs for each period include stock-based compensation expenses and expenses representing additional 
payroll taxes for compensation expense as a result of the taxable income employees recognize upon their exercise of 
common stock options and the vesting of restricted stock units issued under our stock incentive plans.
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Non-GAAP Financial Presentation
This management’s discussion and analysis presents supplemental measures of our performance that are derived 
from our consolidated financial information but are not presented in our consolidated financial statements prepared 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or “GAAP.” We refer to 
these financial measures, which are considered “non-GAAP financial measures” under SEC rules, as adjusted EBITDA, 
adjusted net income, and non-GAAP earnings per diluted share. See “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below for 
information about our use of these non-GAAP financial measures, including our reasons for including these measures, 
material limitations with respect to the usefulness of the measures, and reconciliations of each non-GAAP financial 
measure to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure.

Results of Operations
The following table shows statements of income data expressed as a percentage of revenue for the last three 
fiscal years:

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

Revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Costs and expenses:
 Cost of services, excluding depreciation and amortization 53.4 52.7 52.3
 Member relations and marketing 19.9 18.9 18.5
 General and administrative 12.9 13.8 14.2
 Depreciation and amortization 3.9 4.5 5.8
  Total costs and expenses 90.1 89.9 90.8
   Operating income 9.9 10.1 9.2
Other income, net 0.8 0.6 0.5
    Income from continuing operations before provision for income taxes 

 and equity in loss of unconsolidated entities 10.7 10.7 9.7
Provision for income taxes (4.1) (4.0) (3.7)
Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities (0.3) (1.5) (1.2)
   Net income from continuing operations 6.3 5.2 4.8
Discontinued operations:
 Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 0.1 — —
 Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax 0.5 — —
   Net income from discontinued operations 0.6 — —
    Net income before allocation to noncontrolling interest 6.9 5.2 4.8
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest — — —
    Net income attributable to common stockholders 6.9% 5.2% 4.8%

Fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014
Net Income Attributable to Common Stockholders
Net income attributable to common stockholders decreased 7.5% from $25.3 million in fiscal 2012 to $23.4 million in fiscal 
2013, and increased 5.7% to $24.8 million in fiscal 2014. Factors that offset a 21.7% increase in revenue and contributed 
to the lower net income attributable to common stockholders in fiscal 2013 included increases of $39.7 million in cost of 
services to support four newly developed programs, three acquired companies as well as growth from existing programs, 
increases of $14.3 million in general and administrative expense related to increased new product development costs, 
increases in finance, information technology, and human resources expense incurred to support our growing employee 
base, increases of $11.4 million in marketing and member relations expense from the addition of new sales teams and 
their related expense, increases of $6.0 million in depreciation and amortization related to increased capital expenditures, 
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including internally developed software and an increase in amortization of newly acquired intangibles, and an increase 
in our proportionate share of the net loss of unconsolidated entities from $1.3 million in fiscal 2012 to $6.8 million in fiscal 
2013. The increase in net income attributable to common stockholders in fiscal 2014 was primarily due to a 15.5% increase 
in revenue from $450.8 million to $520.6 million and a $4.4 million decrease in fair value charges related to acquisition-
related earn-out liabilities as compared to a $3.8 million increase in fair value changes in fiscal 2013. The effect of these 
factors was partially offset by an increase in cost of services of $34.9 million incurred for five newly developed programs, 
four acquired companies, and growth of existing programs, increases of $12.0 million in general and administrative 
expense related to increased investment in certain of our administration groups to support our growing employee base 
and number of offices, increases of $11.0 million in marketing and member relations costs attributable to the addition of 
new sales teams, and an increase of $10.1 million in depreciation and amortization due to increased capital expenditures, 
including internally developed software and an increase in amortization of newly acquired intangibles.

Adjusted Net Income, Non-GAAP Earnings Per Diluted Share, and Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted net income increased 13.6% from $40.0 million, or $1.15 non-GAAP earnings per diluted share, in fiscal 2012 
to $45.4 million, or $1.25 non-GAAP earnings per diluted share, in fiscal 2013, and decreased 1.2% to $44.9 million, 
or $1.22 non-GAAP earnings per diluted share, in fiscal 2014. Adjusted EBITDA increased 18.1% from $71.5 million in 
fiscal 2012 to $84.4 million in fiscal 2013, and increase 9.2% to $92.2 million in fiscal 2014. The increases in adjusted net 
income for fiscal 2013 and adjusted EBITDA in fiscal 2013 and 2014 were due to increased revenue, the effect of which 
was partially offset by the costs of new and growing programs, increased investment in our general and administrative 
infrastructure to support our growing employee base, and an increase in the number of new sales teams. The decrease 
in adjusted net income for fiscal 2014 was attributable to additional costs to integrate four acquired companies over the 
last 18 months, as well as to increased investment in our general and administrative infrastructure to support our growing 
employee base, including an increase in the number of new sales teams.

Revenue
Revenue increased 21.7% from $370.3 million in fiscal 2012 to $450.8 million in fiscal 2013, and 15.5% to $520.6 million 
in fiscal 2014. Our contract value increased 17.1% from $398.3 million as of March 31, 2012 to $466.3 million as of March 
31, 2013, and 16.2% to $541.9 million as of March 31, 2014.

The increase in revenue in fiscal 2013 over fiscal 2012 was primarily attributable to the introduction and expansion of 
new programs, including our fiscal 2013 acquisitions of ActiveStrategy, Inc., or “ActiveStrategy,” and 360Fresh, Inc., or 
“360Fresh,” a full fiscal year of revenue from the August 1, 2011 acquisition of PivotHealth LLC, or “PivotHealth,” our 
cross-selling of existing programs to existing members, and, to a lesser degree, price increases. The increase in revenue 
in fiscal 2014 over fiscal 2013 was primarily attributable to our cross-selling of existing programs to existing members, 
the introduction and expansion of new programs, including a full year of revenue from our acquisitions of ActiveStrategy 
and 360Fresh, and revenue from our fiscal 2013 acquisitions of Care Team Connect, Inc., or “Care Team Connect,” and 
Medical Referral Source, Inc., or “MRS,” and, to a lesser degree, price increases.

We offered 53 membership programs as of March 31, 2012, 57 membership programs as of March 31, 2013, and 
62 membership programs as of March 31, 2014. Our membership base consisted of 3,726 member institutions as of 
March 31, 2012, 4,114 member institutions as of March 31, 2013, and 4,534 member institutions as of March 31, 2014. 
Our average contract value per member of $106,901 as of March 31, 2012, increased to $113,352 as of March 31, 2013 
and to $119,520 as of March 31, 2014.

Cost of Services
Cost of services increased 20.0% from $197.9 million in fiscal 2012 to $237.6 million in fiscal 2013, and 14.7% to 
$272.5 million in fiscal 2014. As a percentage of revenue, cost of services was 53.4% for fiscal 2012, 52.7% for fiscal 
2013, and 52.3% for fiscal 2014. The increase of $39.7 million in cost of services for fiscal 2013 over fiscal 2012 was 
primarily attributable to increases of $30.2 million in expenses related to our new and growing physician related software 
programs and an increase of $7.2 million in expenses related to our Southwind programs, which included a full year of 
PivotHealth expenses. The increase of $34.9 million in cost of services for fiscal 2014 over fiscal 2013 was primarily 
attributable to growth and expansion of our physician related software programs of $13.7 million, as well as costs incurred 
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in connection with our recent acquisitions of ActiveStrategy, 360Fresh, MRS, and Care Team Connect. The increases in 
cost of services over the three fiscal years also reflected increased costs associated with the delivery of program content 
and tools to our expanded membership base, including increased staffing expenses and licensing fees. Cost of services 
included fair value adjustments to our acquisition-related earn-out liabilities of $6.7 million, $3.8 million, and ($4.4) million 
in fiscal 2012, 2013, and 2014, respectively.

Member Relations and Marketing Expense
Member relations and marketing expense increased 15.4% from $73.9 million in fiscal 2012 to $85.3 million in fiscal 2013, 
and 12.9% to $96.3 million in fiscal 2014. As a percentage of revenue, member relations and marketing expense in fiscal 
2012, 2013, and 2014 was 19.9%, 18.9%, and 18.5%, respectively. The total dollar increases in member relations and 
marketing expense over the three fiscal years were primarily attributable to an increase in sales staff and related travel 
and other associated costs, as well as to an increase in member relations personnel and related costs required to serve 
our expanding membership base. We had an average of 148, 172, and 188 new business development teams during 
fiscal 2012, 2013, and 2014, respectively.

General and Administrative Expense
General and administrative expense increased 29.8% from $47.9 million in fiscal 2012 to $62.2 million in fiscal 2013, and 
19.3% to $74.2 million in fiscal 2014. As a percentage of revenue, general and administrative expense in fiscal 2012, 
2013, and 2014 was 12.9%, 13.8%, and 14.2%, respectively. The increase of $14.3 million in general and administrative 
expense for fiscal 2013 was primarily attributable to an increase of $8.0 million in costs incurred to improve our finance, 
human resources, and information technology infrastructure to support our growing employee base and number of office 
locations; increased legal infrastructure costs; an increase in share-based compensation expense of $0.9 million; and 
external advisory spending of $0.6 million related to our new credit facility. The increase of $12.0 million in general and 
administrative expense for fiscal 2014 was primarily attributable to an increase of $6.1 million in costs incurred to improve 
our human resources, information technology, and infrastructure costs to support our growing employee base and number 
of office locations; and increased investments in our legal and corporate development groups; and an increase in share-
based compensation expense of $1.7 million. As of March 31, 2014, we had approximately 2,800 employees compared 
to approximately 2,400 employees as of March 31, 2013 and approximately 1,850 employees as of March 31, 2012. 

Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization expense increased from $14.3 million, or 3.9% of revenue, in fiscal 2012, to $20.3 million, 
or 4.5% of revenue, in fiscal 2013, and to $30.4 million, or 5.8% of revenue, in fiscal 2014. The increase in fiscal 2013 was 
primarily due to increased amortization expense attributable to developed capitalized internal-use software, amortization 
expense on intangibles acquired in our fiscal 2013 acquisitions of 360Fresh and ActiveStrategy, and depreciation on 
expansion of our Washington, D.C. headquarters. The increase in fiscal 2014 was primarily due to increased amortization 
expense from developed capitalized internal-use software, the ActiveStrategy, 360Fresh, MRS, and Care Team Connect 
acquisitions, and depreciation of our newly renovated Austin, San Francisco, and Nashville offices and an expansion 
floor of our Washington, D.C. headquarters.

Other Income, Net
Other income, net decreased from $3.0 million in fiscal 2012 to $2.6 million in fiscal 2013, and increased to $2.7 million 
in fiscal 2014. Other income, net consists of interest income, revolving credit facility fees, gains and losses on investment 
in common stock warrants, and foreign currency gains and losses. Other income, net consisted of interest income of 
$2.4 million, a foreign exchange rate gain of $0.1 million, and a gain of $0.5 million on an investment in common stock 
warrants in fiscal 2012; interest income of $3.4 million, revolving credit facility fees of $0.4 million, a foreign exchange 
rate loss of $0.5 million, and a gain of $0.1 million on an investment in common stock warrants in fiscal 2013; and interest 
income of $3.3 million, revolving credit facility fees of $0.6 million, a foreign exchange rate loss of $0.2 million, and a 
realized gain of $0.2 million on sale of marketable securities in fiscal 2014. Higher average cash and investment balances 



ANNUAL REPORT / 2014 23

contributed to an increase in interest income from $2.4 million in fiscal 2012 to $3.4 million in fiscal 2013, while consistent 
average cash and investment balances between fiscal 2013 and 2014 resulted in investment income of $3.3 million 
in fiscal 2014. During fiscal 2012, 2013, and 2014, we recognized a foreign exchange gain of $0.1 million and foreign 
exchange losses of $0.5 million and $0.2 million, respectively, as a result of the effect of fluctuating currency rates on our 
receivable balances denominated in foreign currencies.

Provision for Income Taxes
Our provision for income taxes was $15.2 million, $18.0 million, and $19.2 million in fiscal 2012, 2013, and 2014, 
respectively. Our effective tax rate in fiscal 2012, 2013, and 2014 was 38.6%, 37.5%, and 38.5%, respectively. The 
decrease in our effective tax rate in fiscal 2013 was primarily due to a higher balance of tax-exempt investments and an 
increase in Washington, D.C. tax credits that we received under the New E-conomy Transformation Act of 2000, partially 
offset by a slight increase in our effective state tax rate due to changes in apportionment of revenue. The increase in 
our effective tax rate in fiscal 2014 was primarily attributable to a lower balance of tax-exempt investments and a slight 
increase in our effective state tax rate due to changes in apportionment of revenue.

Equity in Loss of Unconsolidated Entities
Our proportionate share of the losses of Evolent Health, Inc., or “Evolent,” and Evolent Health LLC, or “Evolent LLC,” was 
$1.3 million, $6.8 million, and $6.1 million in fiscal 2012, 2013, and 2014, respectively. Evolent was established in August 
2011. Our initial Series A investment in Evolent was accounted for under the equity method until Evolent completed 
a restructuring in connection with a financing round in September 2013. Following the restructuring and financing, it 
was determined that our Series A investment should be accounted for using the cost method. As such, we no longer 
recognize our percentage of the entity’s losses related to our Series A investment.

In September 2013, we invested in the Series B convertible preferred stock of Evolent LLC. Subsequent to September 
2013, equity in loss of unconsolidated entities includes only our portion of Evolent LLC’s losses related to our Series B 
investment. The losses recognized during fiscal year 2013 were partially offset by a $1.1 million gain on investment 
recognized in connection with additional equity investment from certain early customers in July 2012. The losses 
recognized during fiscal year 2014 were partially offset by a $4.0 million gain on the conversion into equity securities 
of all outstanding principal and accrued interest under notes outstanding to Evolent as of March 31, 2013. Evolent 
LLC continues to be in the early stages of its business plan, and as a result, we expect Evolent LLC to incur losses in 
the future.

Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax
On January 20, 2012, we sold substantially all of the assets of our OptiLink business. As a result, the net income 
generated by OptiLink of $0.3 million in fiscal 2012 has been presented as discontinued operations.

Gain on Sale of Discontinued Operations
In fiscal 2012, we recorded a gain of $2.2 million from the sale of OptiLink, after tax.

Net Loss Attributable to Noncontrolling Interest
On July 5, 2012, we entered into an agreement with an entity created for the sole purpose of providing consulting services 
for us on an exclusive basis. We determined that this entity meets the definition of a variable interest entity over which 
we have significant influence and, as a result, have consolidated the results of this entity into our consolidated financial 
statements. As of March 31, 2014, we have a 0% ownership interest in this entity. In fiscal 2013 and 2014, $0.1 million of 
income was recorded in the allocation of losses to the noncontrolling interest. There was no income allocated to us in 
fiscal 2012.
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense
We recognized the following stock-based compensation expense in the consolidated statements of income line items 
for stock options and RSUs issued under our stock incentive plans and for shares issued under our employee stock 
purchase plan for fiscal 2012, 2013, and 2014 (in thousands except per share amounts):

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

Stock-based compensation expense included in:
Costs and expenses:
 Cost of services $ 3,440 $ 3,975 $ 5,527
 Member relations and marketing 2,133 2,643 3,688
 General and administrative 6,413 7,295 9,002
 Depreciation and amortization — — —
 Total costs and expenses 11,986 13,913 18,217
  Operating income (11,986) (13,913) (18,217)
  Net income attributable to common stockholders $ (7,359) $ (8,686) $ (11,204)
  Impact on diluted earnings per share $ (0.21) $ (0.24) $ (0.30)

There are no stock-based compensation costs capitalized as part of the cost of an asset.

Stock-based compensation expense by award type for fiscal 2012, 2013, and 2014 was as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

Stock-based compensation expense by award type:
 Stock options $ 5,072 $ 5,000 $ 4,846
 Restricted stock units 6,914 8,913 13,371
 Employee stock purchase rights — — —
Total stock-based compensation $ 11,986 $ 13,913 $ 18,217

As of March 31, 2014, $43.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock-based compensation is 
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.9 years.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
We use non-GAAP financial measures to supplement the financial information presented on a GAAP basis. The 
non-GAAP financial measures presented in this Annual Report include adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income, and 
non-GAAP earnings per diluted share. We define “adjusted EBITDA” as net income attributable to common stockholders 
before adjustment for the items set forth in the first table below. We define “adjusted net income” as net income attributable 
to common stockholders excluding the net of tax effect of the items set forth in the second table below, We define 
“non-GAAP earnings per diluted share” as earnings per diluted share excluding the net of tax effect of the items set forth 
in the third table below.

Our management believes that providing information about adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income, and non-GAAP 
earnings per diluted share facilitates an assessment by our investors of the Company’s fundamental operating trends and 
addresses concerns of management and investors that the various gains and expenses excluded from these measures 
may obscure such underlying trends. Our management uses these non-GAAP financial measures, together with financial 
measures prepared in accordance with GAAP, to enhance its understanding of our core operating performance, which 
represents our views concerning our performance in the ordinary, ongoing, and customary course of our operations. In 
the future, we are likely to incur income and expenses similar to the items for which the applicable GAAP measures have 
been adjusted and to report non-GAAP financial measures excluding such items. Accordingly, the exclusion of those 
and similar items in our non-GAAP presentation should not be interpreted as implying that the items are non-recurring, 
infrequent, or unusual.
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The information about our core operating performance provided by our non-GAAP financial measures is used by 
management for a variety of purposes. Management uses the non-GAAP financial measures for internal budgeting and 
other managerial purposes in part because the measures enable management to evaluate projected operating results 
and make comparative assessments of our performance over time while isolating the effects of items that vary from 
period to period without any or with limited correlation to core operating performance, such as tax rates, interest income 
and foreign currency exchange rates, periodic costs of certain capitalized tangible and intangible assets, share-based 
compensation expense, and certain non-cash and special charges. The effects of the foregoing items also vary widely 
among similar companies, and affect the ability of management and investors to make company-to-company comparisons. 
In addition, merger and acquisition activity can have inconsistent effects on earnings that are not related to core 
operating performance due, for instance, to charges relating to acquisition costs, the amortization of acquisition-related 
intangibles, and fluctuations in the fair value of contingent earn-out liabilities. Companies also exhibit significant variations 
with respect to capital structure and cost of capital (which affect relative interest expense) and differences in taxation 
and book depreciation of facilities and equipment (which affect relative depreciation expense), including significant 
differences in the depreciable lives of similar assets among various companies. By eliminating some of the foregoing 
variations, management believes that the Company’s non-GAAP financial measures allow management and investors to 
evaluate more effectively the Company’s performance relative to that of its competitors and peer companies. Similarly, 
our management believes that because of the variety of equity awards used by companies, the varying methodologies 
for determining both share-based compensation and share-based compensation expense among companies, and from 
period to period, and the subjective assumptions involved in those determinations, excluding share-based compensation 
from our non-GAAP financial measures enhances company-to-company comparisons over multiple fiscal periods.

Our non-GAAP measures may be calculated differently from similarly titled measures reported by other companies due 
to differences in accounting policies and items excluded or included in the adjustments, which limits their usefulness as 
comparative measures. In addition, there are other limitations associated with the non-GAAP financial measures we use, 
including the following:

• the non-GAAP financial measures generally do not reflect all depreciation and amortization, and although the 
assets being depreciated and amortized will in some cases have to be replaced in the future, the measures do not 
reflect any cash requirements for such replacements;

• the non-GAAP financial measures do not reflect the expense of equity awards to employees;

• the non-GAAP financial measures do not reflect the effect of earnings or charges resulting from matters that 
management considers not indicative of our ongoing operations, but which may recur from year to year; and

• to the extent that we change our accounting for certain transactions or other items from period to period, our 
non-GAAP financial measures may not be directly comparable from period to period.

Our management compensates for these limitations by relying primarily on our GAAP results and using the non-GAAP 
financial measures only as a supplemental measure of our operating performance, and by considering independently 
the economic effects of the foregoing items that are or are not reflected in the non-GAAP measures. Because of 
their limitations, our non-GAAP financial measures should be considered by our investors only in addition to financial 
measures prepared in accordance with GAAP, and should not be considered to be a substitute for, or superior to, the 
GAAP measures as indicators of operating performance.
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A reconciliation of our non-GAAP financial measures to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measures is 
provided below (unaudited, in thousands):

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 25,304 $ 23,408 $ 24,752
Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities 1,337 6,756 6,051
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax (2,155) — —
Provision for income taxes from continuing operations 15,206 18,023 19,208
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax (286) — —
Other income, net (3,034) (2,604) (2,706)
Depreciation and amortization 14,817 20,308 30,420
Acquisition and transaction charges 648 851 573
Fair value adjustments to acquisition-related earn-out liabilities 7,678 3,759 (4,350)
Share-based compensation expense 11,987 13,913 18,217
 Adjusted EBITDA $ 71,502 $ 84,414 $ 92,165

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 25,304 $ 23,408 $ 24,752
Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities 1,337 6,756 6,051
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax (2,155) — —
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax (286) — —
Amortization of acquisition-related intangibles, net of tax 3,502 3,804 5,221
Acquisition and similar transaction charges, net of tax 405 525 352
Fair value adjustments to acquisition-related earn-out liabilities, net of tax 4,777 2,331 (2,675)
Gain on investment in common stock warrants, net of tax (263) (68) —
Share-based compensation expense, net of tax 7,388 8,686 11,204
 Adjusted net income $ 40,009 $ 45,442 $ 44,905

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

GAAP earnings per diluted share $ 0.73 $ 0.64 $ 0.67
Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities 0.04 0.19 0.17
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax (0.06) — —
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax (0.01) — —
Amortization of acquisition-related intangibles, net of tax 0.10 0.11 0.14
Acquisition and similar transaction charges, net of tax 0.01 0.01 0.01
Fair value adjustments to acquisition-related earn-out liabilities, net of tax 0.14 0.06 (0.07)
Gain on investment in common stock warrants, net of tax (0.01) — —
Share-based compensation expense, net of tax 0.21 0.24 0.30
 Non-GAAP earnings per diluted share $ 1.15 $ 1.25 $ 1.22
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash flows generated from operating activities represent our primary source of liquidity. We believe that existing cash, 
cash equivalents, marketable securities balances, and operating cash flows will be sufficient to support our expected 
operating and capital expenditures, as well as share repurchases, during at least the next 12 months. We had cash, 
cash equivalents, and marketable securities balances of $214.7 million as of March 31, 2013 and $187.5 million as of 
March 31, 2014. We expended $18.0 million and $21.9 million in cash to purchase shares of our common stock through 
our share repurchase program during fiscal 2013 and 2014, respectively. We had no long-term indebtedness as of March 
31, 2013 or 2014.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
The combination of revenue growth, profitable operations, and payment for memberships in advance of accrual revenue 
typically results in operating activities that generate cash flows in excess of net income attributable to common stockholders 
on an annual basis. Net cash flows provided by operating activities were $93.9 million in fiscal 2012, $83.3 million in 
fiscal 2013, and $76.7 million in fiscal 2014. The decrease in net cash flows provided by operating activities in fiscal 2013 
was due to the timing of payments received and, to a lesser extent, an increase in certain acquisition-related earn-out 
payments classified as cash flows used in operating activities. The decrease in net cash flows provided by operating 
activities in fiscal 2014 was primarily due to the timing of certain vendor payments.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Our cash management, investment, and acquisition strategy and capital expenditure programs affect investing cash 
flows. Net cash flows used in investing activities were $88.7 million in fiscal 2012, $106.9 million in fiscal 2013, and 
$125.6 million in fiscal 2014.

In fiscal 2012, investing activities used $88.7 million in cash, primarily consisting of net purchases of marketable securities 
of $40.5 million, capital expenditures of $33.2 million, expenditure of $16.9 million in our acquisition of PivotHealth, and 
our initial capital contribution of $10.0 million to Evolent. The effect of these expenditures was partially offset by the 
net proceeds of $7.8 million realized on the sale of discontinued operations and the receipt of $4.0 million in previously 
escrowed funds relating to the acquisition of Concuity Services, Inc.

In fiscal 2013, investing activities used $106.9 million in cash, primarily consisting of capital expenditures of $40.4 million, 
expenditure of $31.9 million in our acquisitions of 360Fresh and ActiveStrategy, net purchases of $31.3 million of 
marketable securities, and the purchase of a $4.4 million note receivable from Evolent offset by $1.1 million received 
from the sale of OptiLink.

In fiscal 2014, investing activities used $125.6 million in cash, primarily consisting of capital expenditures of $49.1 million, 
expenditures of $46.0 million in our acquisitions of Care Team Connect and Medical Referral Source, a contribution of a 
$15.6 million to Evolent LLC, and net purchases of $14.8 million of marketable securities.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
We had net cash flows provided by financing activities of $25.1 million in fiscal 2012, $20.8 million in fiscal 2013, and 
$14.2 million in fiscal 2014.

In fiscal 2012, we had net cash flows provided by financing activities of $25.1 million, consisting of $31.0 million from 
the exercise of stock options, $7.6 million in excess tax benefits resulting from the exercise of employee options, and 
$0.2 million received from the issuance of common stock under our employee stock purchase plan. The effect of those 
items was partially offset by our repurchase of 111,719 shares of our common stock for approximately $6.6 million, our 
use of $2.4 million to satisfy minimum employee tax withholding for vested restricted stock units and $4.8 million of 
acquisition-related earn-out payments.
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In fiscal 2013, we had net cash flows provided by financing activities of $20.8 million, consisting of $24.1 million from 
the exercise of stock options, $20.5 million in excess tax benefits resulting from the exercise of employee options, and 
$0.4 million received from the issuance of common stock under our employee stock purchase plan. The effect of those 
items was partially offset by our repurchase of 98,433 shares of our common stock for approximately $18.0 million, our 
use of $4.1 million to satisfy minimum employee tax withholding for vested restricted stock units, $1.4 million expended 
in acquisition-related earn-out payments, and $0.8 million used to pay credit facility issuance costs.

In fiscal 2014, we had net cash flows provided by financing activities of $14.2 million, consisting of $22.0 million from 
the exercise of stock options, $19.5 million in excess tax benefits resulting from the exercise of employee options, and 
$0.5 million received from the issuance of common stock under our employee stock purchase plan. The effect of those 
items was partially offset by our repurchase of 376,532 shares of our common stock for approximately $21.9 million, and 
our use of $5.9 million to satisfy minimum employee tax withholding for vested restricted stock units.

Revolving Credit Facility
On July 30, 2012, we obtained a $150.0 million five-year senior secured revolving credit facility under a credit agreement 
with a syndicate of lenders.

Under the revolving credit facility, up to $150.0 million principal amount of borrowings and other credit extensions may 
be outstanding at any time. The facility loans may be borrowed, repaid and reborrowed from time to time during the 
term of the facility and will mature and be payable in full on July 30, 2017. At our election, and upon our satisfaction of 
specified conditions, the maximum principal amount available under the credit agreement may be increased by up to an 
additional $50.0 million in minimum increments of $10.0 million, which may be made available by increasing the revolving 
loan commitments or by our entry into one or more tranches of term loans. The credit agreement contains a sublimit for 
up to $5.0 million principal amount of swing line loans outstanding at any time and a sublimit for the issuance of up to 
$10.0 million of letters of credit outstanding at any time.

The revolving credit facility was undrawn at the facility closing date of July 30, 2012. As of the date of this report, there 
were no amounts outstanding under the credit facility and $150.0 million was available for borrowing thereunder. We 
may use the proceeds of borrowings under the facility, when drawn, to finance working capital needs and for general 
corporate purposes, including permitted acquisitions.

Amounts drawn under the revolving credit facility generally will bear interest at an annual rate calculated, at our option, 
on the basis of either (a) an alternate base rate plus the applicable margin for alternate base rate loans under the credit 
agreement, which ranges from 0.75% to 1.50% based on our total leverage ratio, or (b) an adjusted London interbank 
offered rate, or “LIBOR,” plus the applicable margin for eurocurrency loans under the credit agreement, which ranges 
from 1.75% to 2.50% based on our total leverage ratio. We are required to pay a commitment fee on the unutilized portion 
of the facility at an annual rate of between 0.25% and 0.40% based on our total leverage ratio. The interest rate on the 
alternate base rate loans will fluctuate as the base rate fluctuates, while the interest rate on the eurocurrency loans will 
be adjusted at the end of each applicable interest period. Interest on alternate base rate loans will be payable quarterly 
in arrears, while interest on eurocurrency loans will be payable at the end of each applicable interest period, which may 
be one, two, three, or nine months, except that, in the case of a six-month interest period, interest will be payable at the 
end of each three-month period.

The Advisory Board Company is the borrower under the revolving credit facility. All of The Advisory Board Company’s 
obligations under the facility are and will be guaranteed by certain of our existing and future domestic subsidiaries. Our 
obligations and the obligations of each subsidiary guarantor under the facility are and will be secured by first-priority liens 
on, and first-priority security interests in, substantially all of our assets, including a pledge of some or all of the capital 
stock of each of our domestic subsidiaries held by such loan party.
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The revolving credit facility contains customary negative covenants restricting certain actions that may be taken by us 
and our subsidiaries. Subject to specified exceptions, these covenants limit our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries 
to incur indebtedness, create liens on their assets, pay cash dividends, repurchase our common stock and make other 
restricted payments, make investments or loans to other parties, sell assets, engage in mergers and acquisitions, enter 
into transactions with affiliates, and change their business. The facility also contains customary affirmative covenants, 
including, among others, covenants requiring compliance with laws, maintenance of corporate existence, licenses, 
properties and insurance, payment of taxes and performance of other material obligations, and delivery of financial and 
other information to the lenders under the credit agreement.

We are required under the credit agreement to satisfy the following three financial ratios, each of which is measured for 
us and our subsidiaries on a consolidated basis as of the end of each fiscal quarter:

• a maximum total leverage ratio, under which the ratio of consolidated total indebtedness to consolidated earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, and other items specified in the credit agreement (“EBITDA”) may 
not be greater than 3.50 to 1.00;

• a maximum senior secured leverage ratio, under which the ratio of consolidated total secured indebtedness to 
consolidated EBITDA may not be greater than 2.50 to 1.00; and

• a minimum interest coverage ratio, under which the ratio of consolidated EBITDA to consolidated interest expense 
may not be less than 3.00 to 1.00.

Consolidated EBITDA as defined in the credit agreement currently is not computed, and in the future may not be 
computed, in the same manner in which we define “adjusted EBITDA” from time to time for purposes of reports we file 
with the SEC and present in our other publicly available financial disclosures.

We were in compliance with these financial covenants as of March 31, 2014.

Contractual Obligations
The following summarizes our contractual obligations as of March 31, 2014. These obligations relate to leases for our 
headquarters and other offices as well as a non-cancelable agreement for the purchase of data. These are more fully 
described in Note 17, “Commitments and contingencies,” to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in 
this Annual Report.

(In thousands)

Payment Due by Period

Total
Less Than 

1 Year 1–3 Years 3–5 Years
More Than 

5 Years
Non-cancelable operating leases $ 67,044 $ 13,563 $ 26,253 $ 21,115 $ 6,113
Purchase obligation $ 16,000 $ 5,000 $ 8,000 $ 3,000 $ —

In addition to the contractual obligations above, as of March 31, 2014 we have payments of up to $8.8 million contingently 
payable through December 31, 2014 related to business acquisitions. For additional detail, see Note 5, “Fair value 
measurements,” to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Share Repurchase Program
In January 2004, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase by us from time to time of up to $50 million of our 
common stock. This authorization was increased in cumulative amount to $100 million in October 2004, to $150 million 
in February 2006, to $200 million in January 2007, to $250 million in July 31, 2007, to $350 million in April 2008 and 
up to $450 million in May 2013. We intend to fund any future share repurchases with cash on hand and with cash 
generated from operations. No minimum number of shares for repurchase has been fixed, and the share repurchase 
authorization has no expiration date. All repurchases have been made in the open market pursuant to this publicly 
announced repurchase program. As of March 31, 2014, the remaining authorized repurchase amount was $87.2 million. 
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Exercise of Stock Options and Purchases Under Our Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Options granted to participants under our stock-based incentive compensation plans that were exercised to acquire 
shares in fiscal 2012, 2013, and 2014 generated cash of approximately $31.0 million, $24.1 million, and $22.0 million, 
respectively, from payment of option exercise prices. In addition, in fiscal 2012, 2013, and 2014, cash flows of approximately 
$0.2 million, $0.4 million, and $0.5 million, respectively, were provided by discounted stock purchases by participants 
under our employee stock purchase plan.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of March 31, 2014, we had no off-balance sheet financing or other arrangements with unconsolidated entities or 
financial partnerships (such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities) established for 
purposes of facilitating off-balance sheet financing or other debt arrangements or for other contractually limited purposes.

Summary of Critical Accounting Policies
We have identified the following policies as critical to our business operations and the understanding of our results 
of operations. This listing is not a comprehensive identification of all of our accounting policies. In many cases, the 
accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by GAAP, with no need for management’s judgment 
in its application. There are also areas in which management’s judgment in selecting any available alternative would not 
produce a materially different result. Certain of our accounting policies are particularly important to the presentation of our 
financial condition and results of operations and may require the application of significant judgment by our management. 
In applying those policies, our management uses its judgment to determine the appropriate assumptions to be used 
in the determination of certain estimates. Those estimates are based on our historical experience, our observation 
of trends in the industry, information provided by our members, and information available from other outside sources, 
as appropriate. For a more detailed discussion on the application of these and other accounting policies, see Note 2, 
“Summary of significant accounting policies,” to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual 
Report. Our critical accounting policies are discussed below.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized when (1) there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, (2) the fee is fixed or determinable, 
(3) services have been rendered and payment has been contractually earned, and (4) collectibility is reasonably assured. 
Fees are generally billable when a letter of agreement is signed by the member, and fees receivable during the subsequent 
twelve month period and related deferred revenue are recorded upon the commencement of the membership or collection 
of fees, if earlier. In many of our higher priced programs and membership agreements with terms that are greater than 
one year, fees may be billed on an installment basis.

Our membership agreements with our customers generally include more than one deliverable. Deliverables are 
determined based upon the availability and delivery method of the services and may include: best practices research; 
executive education curricula; cloud-based content, databases, and calculators; performance or benchmarking reports; 
diagnostic tools; interactive advisory support; and performance technology software. Access to such deliverables is 
generally available on an unlimited basis over the membership period. When an agreement contains multiple deliverables, 
we review the deliverables to determine if they qualify as separate units of accounting. In order for deliverables in a 
multiple-deliverable arrangement to be treated as separate units of accounting, the deliverables must have standalone 
value upon delivery, and delivery or performance of undelivered items in an arrangement with a general right of return 
must be probable. If we determine that there are separate units of accounting, arrangement consideration at the inception 
of the membership period is allocated to all deliverables based on the relative selling price method in accordance with 
the selling price hierarchy. Because of the unique nature of the Company’s products, neither vendor specific objective 
evidence nor third-party evidence is available. Therefore, the Company utilizes best estimate of selling price to allocate 
arrangement consideration in multiple element arrangements. Best estimate of selling price is an estimate and as such, 
could change over time.
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Our membership programs may contain certain deliverables that do not have standalone value and therefore are not 
accounted for separately. In general, the deliverables in membership programs are consistently available throughout 
the membership period, and, as a result, the consideration is recognized ratably over the membership period. When 
a service offering includes unlimited and limited service offerings, revenue is recognized over the appropriate service 
period, either ratably, if the service is consistently available, or, if the service is not consistently available, upon the earlier 
of the delivery of the service or the completion of the membership period, provided that all other criteria for recognition 
have been met.

Certain membership programs incorporate hosted performance technology software. In many of these agreements, 
members are charged set-up fees in addition to subscription fees for access to the hosted cloud-based performance 
technology software and related membership services. Both set-up fees and subscription fees are recognized ratably 
over the term of the membership agreement, which is generally three years, and is consistent with the pattern of the 
delivery of services under these arrangements. Upon launch of a new program that incorporates software, all program 
revenue is deferred until the program is generally available for release to our membership, and then recognized ratably 
over the remainder of the contract term of each agreement.

We also perform professional services sold under separate agreements that include management and consulting 
services. We recognize professional services revenues on a time-and-materials basis as services are rendered.

Although we believe that our approach to estimates and judgments with respect to revenue recognition is reasonable, 
actual results could differ and we may be exposed to increases or decreases in revenue that could be material.

Allowance for Uncollectible Revenue
Our ability to collect outstanding receivables from our members has an effect on our operating performance and cash 
flows. We maintain an allowance for uncollectible revenue as a reduction of revenue based on our ongoing monitoring 
of members’ credit and the aging of receivables. To determine the allowance for uncollectible revenue, we examine our 
collections history, the age of accounts receivable in question, any specific member collection issues that have been 
identified, general market conditions, and current economic trends.

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation
We may enter into various agreements with unrelated third parties to provide, directly or indirectly, services to our 
members or prospective members. We must determine for each of these business arrangements, which could include an 
investment by us in the third party, whether to consolidate the third party or account for our investment under the equity 
or cost basis of accounting. We determine whether to consolidate certain entities based on our rights and obligations 
under the agreements, applying the applicable accounting guidance. For investment interests that we do not consolidate, 
we evaluate the guidance to determine the accounting framework to apply. The application of the rules in evaluating the 
accounting treatment for each agreement is complex and requires substantial management judgment. Therefore, we 
believe the decision to choose an appropriate accounting framework is a critical accounting estimate. We evaluate our 
accounting for investments on a regular basis including when a significant change in the design of an entity occurs.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures, equipment, capitalized internal use 
software development costs, and acquired developed technology. Property and equipment is stated at cost, less 
accumulated depreciation and amortization. In certain membership programs, we provide performance technology 
software under a hosting arrangement where the software application resides on our service providers’ hardware. 
The members do not take delivery of the software and only receive access to the software during the term of their 
membership agreement.

Computer software development costs that are incurred in the preliminary project stage for internal use software are 
expensed as incurred. During the development stage, direct consulting costs and payroll and payroll-related costs for 
employees that are directly associated with each project are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful life 
of the software once it is placed into operation. Capitalized software is amortized using the straight-line method over 
its estimated useful life, which is generally five years. Replacements and major improvements are capitalized, while 
maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.
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Acquired developed technology is classified as property and equipment because the developed software application 
resides on our service providers’ hardware. Amortization for acquired developed software is included in the depreciation 
and amortization line item of our consolidated statements of income. Acquired developed software is amortized over its 
estimated useful life of six years based on the cash flow estimate used to determine the value of the intangible asset.

Furniture, fixtures, and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets, which range from three to seven years. Leasehold improvements are depreciated using the straight-line method 
over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the lease term.

Business Combinations
We record acquisitions using the purchase method of accounting. All of the assets acquired, liabilities assumed, 
contractual contingencies, and contingent consideration are recognized at their fair value on the acquisition date. All 
subsequent changes to a valuation allowance or uncertain tax position that relate to the acquired company and existed 
at the acquisition date that occur both within the measurement period and as a result of facts and circumstances that 
existed at the acquisition date are recognized as an adjustment to goodwill. All other changes in a valuation allowance are 
recognized as a reduction or increase to expense or as a direct adjustment to additional paid-in capital as required. We 
capitalize any acquired in-process research and development as an intangible asset and amortize it over its estimated 
useful life. Acquisition-related costs are recorded as expenses in the consolidated financial statements. Increases or 
decreases in the fair value of contingent consideration obligations resulting from changes in the estimates of earn-out 
results can materially impact the financial statements. As of March 31, 2014, we had a liability of $8.8 million for contingent 
consideration related to acquisitions.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
The excess cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Goodwill and 
other intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized, but rather tested for impairment on an annual basis as of 
March 31, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate potential impairment. We have concluded 
that our reporting units we use to assess goodwill impairment are the same as our operating segments.

When testing for impairment, we first perform a qualitative assessment on a reporting unit to determine whether further 
quantitative impairment testing is necessary. If an initial qualitative assessment identifies that it is more likely than not 
that the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value, additional quantitative testing is performed. If 
the quantitative testing indicates that goodwill is impaired, the carrying value of goodwill is written down to fair value. We 
determine the fair value of our reporting units based on the income approach, under which the fair value of a reporting 
unit is calculated based on the present value of estimated future cash flows. Determining the fair value of a reporting unit 
is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions 
include revenue growth rates and operating margins used to calculate projected future cash flows, discount rates, and 
future economic and market conditions. Our estimates are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but 
which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. These valuations require the use of management’s assumptions, 
which would not reflect unanticipated events and circumstances that may occur. Based on our qualitative assessment as 
of March 31, 2014, we had no reporting unit that our management believed was at risk of failing an impairment test that 
would result in an impairment charge. No quantitative testing was deemed necessary.

Other intangible assets consist of capitalized software for sale and acquired intangibles. We capitalize consulting costs 
and payroll and payroll-related costs for employees directly related to building a software product once technological 
feasibility is established. We determine that technological feasibility is established by the completion of a detailed program 
design or, in its absence, completion of a working model. Once the software product is ready for general availability, 
we cease capitalizing costs and begin amortizing the intangible asset on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful 
life through cost of services on our consolidated statements of income. The weighted average estimated useful life of 
capitalized software is five years. Other intangible assets include assets that arise from business combinations and that 
consist of developed technology, non-competition covenants, trademarks, contracts, and customer relationships that are 
amortized, on a straight-line basis, over six months to ten years. Finite-lived intangible assets are required to be amortized 
over their useful lives and are evaluated for possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable.
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Future business and economic conditions, as well as differences related to any of the assumptions discussed herein, 
could materially affect the financial statements through impairment of goodwill and intangibles and/or acceleration of the 
amortization period of the purchased intangibles, which are finite-lived assets.

Recovery of Long-Lived Assets (Excluding Goodwill)
We record our long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, at cost. We review the carrying value of our long-lived 
assets for possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of assets 
may not be fully recoverable. The test for recoverability is made using an estimate of the undiscounted expected future 
cash flows and, if required, the impairment loss, if any, is measured as the amount that the carrying value of the asset 
exceeds the asset’s fair value if the asset is not recoverable. We consider expected cash flows and estimated future 
operating results, trends, and other available information in assessing whether the carrying value of assets is impaired. If 
we determine that an asset’s carrying value is impaired, we will record a write-down of the carrying value of the identified 
asset and charge the impairment as an operating expense in the period in which the determination is made. Although 
we believe that the carrying values of our long-lived assets are appropriately stated, changes in our business strategy 
or market conditions or significant technological developments could significantly affect these judgments and require 
adjustments to recorded asset balances.

Deferred Incentive Compensation and Other Charges
Incentive compensation to our employees related to the negotiation of new and renewal memberships, license fees 
to third-party vendors for tools, data, and software incorporated in specific memberships that include performance 
technology software, and other direct and incremental costs associated with specific memberships are deferred and 
amortized over the term of the related memberships.

Income Taxes
Deferred income taxes are determined using the asset and liability method. Under this method, temporary differences 
arise as a result of the difference between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred 
tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in our management’s opinion, it is more likely than not that some 
portion or the entire deferred tax asset will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects 
of changes in tax law and tax rates on the date of the enactment of the change.

Stock-Based Compensation
We measure and recognize stock-based compensation cost based on the estimated fair values of the stock-based 
awards on the grant date. Stock-based compensation costs are recognized as an expense in the consolidated statements 
of income over the vesting periods of the awards. We calculate the grant date estimated fair value of all stock options, 
with the exception of the stock options issued with market-based conditions, using a Black-Scholes valuation model. 
The fair value of stock options issued with market-based conditions is calculated on the date of grant using a lattice 
option-pricing model. Determining the estimated fair value of stock-based awards is subjective in nature and involves 
the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including the term of the stock-based awards, risk-free interest rates 
over the vesting period, expected dividend rates, the price volatility of our shares, and forfeiture rates of the awards. 
Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and adjusted, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures 
differ from those estimates. The forfeiture rate is based on historical experience. Our fair value estimates are based 
on assumptions we believe are reasonable but that are inherently uncertain. The fair value of restricted stock units is 
determined as the fair market value of the underlying shares on the date of grant.

To the extent we change the terms of our employee stock-based compensation programs, experience market volatility in 
the pricing of our common stock that increases the implied volatility calculation, or refine different assumptions in future 
periods such as forfeiture rates that differ from our current estimates, among other potential factors, the stock-based 
compensation expense that we record in future periods and the tax benefits that we realize may differ significantly from 
the expense and the tax benefits we have recorded in previous reporting periods.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2, “Summary of significant accounting policies,” to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere 
in this Annual Report for a description of recent accounting pronouncements, including the expected dates of adoption.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk
We are exposed to interest rate risk primarily through our portfolio of cash, cash equivalents, and marketable 
securities, which is designed for safety of principal and liquidity. Cash and cash equivalents include investments in 
highly liquid U.S. Treasury obligations with maturities of less than three months. As of March 31, 2014, our marketable 
securities consisted of $135.1 million in tax-exempt notes and bonds issued by various states, and $29.3 million in 
U.S. government-sponsored enterprise securities. The weighted average maturity on all our marketable securities as of 
March 31, 2014 was approximately 7.1 years. We perform periodic evaluations of the relative credit ratings related to our 
cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities. Our portfolio is subject to inherent interest rate risk as investments 
mature and are reinvested at current market interest rates. We currently do not use derivative financial instruments to 
adjust our portfolio risk or income profile. Because of the nature of our investments we have not prepared quantitative 
disclosure for interest rate sensitivity in accordance with Item 305 of the SEC’s Regulation S-K as we believe the effect 
of interest rate fluctuations would not be material.

Foreign Currency Risk
Although they accounted for approximately 3.1% of our fiscal 2014 revenue, our international operations subject us to 
risks related to currency exchange fluctuations. Prices for our services sold to members located outside the United States 
are sometimes denominated in local currencies (primarily the British Pound Sterling). As a consequence, increases in 
the U.S. dollar against local currencies in countries where we have members would result in a foreign exchange loss 
recognized by us. In fiscal 2012, 2013, and 2014, we recorded a foreign currency exchange gain of $0.1 million, and 
foreign currency exchange losses of $0.5 million and $0.2 million, respectively, which are included in other income, net 
in our consolidated statements of income. A hypothetical 10% change in foreign currency exchange rates would not have 
a material impact on our financial position as of March 31, 2014.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
on the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries as 
of March 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ 
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2014. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used 
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We 
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries at March 31, 2014 and 2013, and the consolidated results of 
their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2014, in conformity with 
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), The Advisory Board Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2014, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (1992 Framework) and our report dated May 30, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Baltimore, Maryland 
May 30, 2014
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March 31,
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts) 2013 2014
Assets
Current assets:
 Cash and cash equivalents $ 57,829 $ 23,129
 Marketable securities, current 16,611 2,452
 Membership fees receivable, net 370,321 447,897
 Prepaid expenses and other current assets 15,477 27,212
 Deferred income taxes, current 7,664 5,511
  Total current assets 467,902 506,201
Property and equipment, net 73,572 102,457
Intangible assets, net 32,381 33,755
Deferred incentive compensation and other charges 73,502 86,147
Deferred income taxes, net of current portion 2,993 —
Marketable securities, net of current portion 140,228 161,944
Goodwill 95,540 129,424
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated entities 6,265 15,857
Other non-current assets 5,550 5,550
   Total assets $ 897,933 $ 1,041,335

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
 Deferred revenue, current $ 398,541 $ 459,827
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 75,089 77,815
 Accrued incentive compensation 21,033 28,471
  Total current liabilities 494,663 566,113
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 104,484 127,532
Deferred income taxes, net of current portion — 1,556
Other long-term liabilities 15,866 8,975
   Total liabilities 615,013 704,176
Redeemable noncontrolling interest 100 100
The Advisory Board Company’s stockholders’ equity:
  Preferred stock, par value $0.01; 5,000,000 shares authorized, zero shares 

 issued and outstanding — —
  Common stock, par value $0.01; 135,000,000 shares authorized, 35,138,465 and 36,321,895 

 shares issued as of March 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively, and 35,138,465 and 36,321,825 
 shares outstanding as of March 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively 351 363

 Additional paid-in capital 375,622 429,932
 Accumulated deficit (94,306) (91,468)
 Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income 1,261 (1,541)
   Total stockholders’ equity controlling interest 282,928 337,286
Equity attributable to noncontrolling interest (108) (227)
   Total stockholder’s equity 282,820 337,059
    Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 897,933 $ 1,041,335

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated balance sheets.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries
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(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

Revenue $ 370,345 $ 450,837 $ 520,596
Costs and Expenses:
 Cost of services, excluding depreciation and amortization 197,937 237,605 272,523
 Member relations and marketing 73,875 85,264 96,298
 General and administrative 47,892 62,185 74,169
 Depreciation and amortization 14,269 20,308 30,420
  Operating income 36,372 45,475 47,186
Other income, net 3,034 2,604 2,706
   Income from continuing operations before provision for income taxes 

 and equity in loss of unconsolidated entities 39,406 48,079 49,892
Provision for income taxes (15,207) (18,023) (19,208)
Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities (1,337) (6,756) (6,051)
  Net income from continuing operations 22,862 23,300 24,633
Discontinued operations:
 Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 286 — —
 Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax 2,155 — —
  Net income from discontinued operations 2,441 — —
   Net income before allocation to noncontrolling interest 25,303 23,300 24,633
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest — 108 119
   Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 25,303 $ 23,408 $ 24,752
Earnings per share—basic:
 Net income from continuing operations attributable to common stockholders $ 0.70 $ 0.67 $ 0.69
 Net income from discontinued operations attributable to common stockholders $ 0.07 $ — $ —
 Net income attributable to common stockholders per share—basic $ 0.77 $ 0.67 $ 0.69
Earnings per share—diluted:
 Net income from continuing operations attributable to common stockholders $ 0.66 $ 0.64 $ 0.67
 Net income from discontinued operations attributable to common stockholders $ 0.07 $ — $ —
 Net income attributable to common stockholders per share—diluted $ 0.73 $ 0.64 $ 0.67
Weighted average number of shares outstanding:
 Basic 32,808 34,723 35,909
 Diluted 34,660 36,306 36,959

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries

(In thousands)

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 25,303 $ 23,408 $ 24,752
Other comprehensive income:
 Net unrealized gains (losses) on marketable securities, net of tax 1,326 55 (2,802)
  Comprehensive income $ 26,629 $ 23,463 $ 21,950

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Income
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries



38 THE ADVISORY BOARD COMPANY

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries

(In thousands, except share amounts)

Additional 
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Elements of Other 

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Treasury
Stock

Noncontrolling
Interest Total

Common Shares

Stock Amount

Balance as of March 31, 2011 32,020,476 $225 $267,242 $ 164,697 $   (120) $ (283,204) $   — $ 148,840
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 1,775,510 8 31,026 — — — — 31,034
Vesting of restricted stock units, net of 
 shares withheld to satisfy minimum 
 employee tax withholding 150,548 2 (2,421) — — — — (2,419)
Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards — — 7,593 — — — — 7,593
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 
 under employee stock purchase plan 6,684 — 222 — — — — 222
Stock-based compensation expense — — 11,986 — — — — 11,986
Purchases of treasury stock (223,438) — — — — (6,580) — (6,580)
Change in net unrealized gains (losses) on 
 available-for-sale marketable securities, 
 net of income taxes of ($654) — — — — 1,326 — — 1,326
Net income — — — 25,303 — — — 25,303
Balance as of March 31, 2012 33,729,780 $235 $315,648 $ 190,000 $  1,206 $ (289,784) $   — $ 217,305
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 1,470,978 12 24,137 — — — — 24,149
Vesting of restricted stock units, net of 
 shares withheld to satisfy minimum 
 employee tax withholding 202,865 1 (4,140) — — — — (4,139)
Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards — — 20,535 — — — — 20,535
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 
 under employee stock purchase plan 7,748 — 363 — — — — 363
Stock-based compensation expense — — 13,913 — — — — 13,913
Release of Southwind earn-out payable 
 in common stock 112,408 1 5,338 — — — — 5,339
Retirement of treasury stock — (70) — (307,714) — 307,784 — —
Stock split — 172 (172) — — — — —
Purchases of treasury stock (385,314) — — — — (18,000) — (18,000)
Change in net unrealized gains (losses) on 
 available-for-sale marketable securities, 
 net of income taxes of ($33) — — — — 55 — — 55
Net income — — — 23,408 — — (108) 23,300
Balance as of March 31, 2013 35,138,465 $351 $375,622 $ (94,306) $  1,261 $ — $ (108) $ 282,820
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 1,323,728 13 22,023 — — — — 22,036
Vesting of restricted stock units, net of 
 shares withheld to satisfy minimum 
 employee tax withholding 227,202 2 (5,920) — — — — (5,918)
Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards — — 19,476 — — — — 19,476
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 
 under employee stock purchase plan 8,962 — 514 — — — — 514
Stock-based compensation expense — — 18,217 — — — — 18,217
Retirement of treasury stock — (3) — (21,914) — 21,917 — —
Purchases of treasury stock (376,532) — — — — (21,917) — (21,917)
Change in net unrealized gains (losses) on 
 available-for-sale marketable securities, 
 net of income taxes of ($1,760) — — — — (2,802) — — (2,802)
Net income — — — 24,752 — — (119) 24,633
Balance as of March 31, 2014 36,321,825 $363 $429,932 $ (91,468) $ (1,541) $ — $ (227) $ 337,059

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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(In thousands)

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income before allocation to noncontrolling interest $ 25,303 $ 23,300 $ 24,633
Adjustments to reconcile net income before allocation to noncontrolling interest 
 to net cash provided by operating activities:
  Depreciation and amortization 14,817 20,308 30,420
  Deferred income taxes 304 641 7,795
  Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards (7,593) (20,535) (19,476)
  Stock-based compensation expense 11,986 13,913 18,217
  Amortization of marketable securities premiums 1,296 2,031 2,667
  Gain on sale of discontinued operations (3,510) — —
  Gain on investment in common stock warrants (450) (100) —
  Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities 1,337 6,756 6,051
  Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
   Membership fees receivable (103,667) (87,672) (63,077)
   Prepaid expenses and other current assets — (7,469) 7,741
   Deferred incentive compensation and other charges (7,143) (20,133) (12,645)
   Deferred revenues 131,743 110,099 72,137
   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 17,564 50,290 4,277
   Acquisition-related earn-out payments (112) (3,011) (2,212)
   Accrued incentive compensation 5,082 2,342 7,065
   Other long-term liabilities 6,950 (7,499) (6,891)
    Net cash provided by operating activities 93,907 83,261 76,702
Cash flows from investing activities:
  Purchases of property and equipment (30,369) (36,979) (44,058)
  Capitalized external use software development costs (2,825) (3,393) (5,071)
  Cash paid for acquisition, net of cash acquired (12,829) (31,887) (46,036)
  Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations, net of selling costs 7,803 1,050 —
  Investments in and loans to unconsolidated entities (10,000) (4,358) (15,641)
  Redemptions of marketable securities 25,480 35,376 56,647
  Purchases of marketable securities (65,990) (66,710) (71,419)
    Net cash used in investing activities (88,730) (106,901) (125,578)
Cash flows from financing activities:
  Proceeds from issuance of common stock from exercise of stock options 31,026 24,137 22,023
   Withholding of shares to satisfy minimum employee tax withholding for 

 vested restricted stock units (2,421) (4,140) (5,920)
  Contributions from noncontrolling interest — 100 —
  Credit facility issuance costs — (769) —
   Proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee stock 

 purchase plan 222 363 514
  Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards 7,593 20,535 19,476
  Acquisition-related earn-out payments (4,753) (1,400) —
  Purchases of treasury stock (6,580) (17,999) (21,917)
    Net cash provided by financing activities 25,087 20,827 14,176
  Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 30,264 (2,813) (34,700)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 30,378 60,642 57,829
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 60,642 $ 57,829 $ 23,129
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
  Cash paid for income taxes $ 7,605 $ 3,491 $ (633)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries

Note 1. Business Description
The Advisory Board Company (individually and collectively with its subsidiaries, the “Company”) provides best practices 
research and analysis, business intelligence and performance technology software, and consulting and management 
services through discrete programs to hospitals, health systems, pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, health 
care insurers, medical device companies, and colleges, universities, and other health care-focused organizations and 
educational institutions. Members of each renewable membership program are typically charged a fixed annual fee 
and have access to an integrated set of services that may include best practices research studies, executive education 
seminars, customized research briefs, cloud-based access to the program’s content database, and performance 
technology software.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly-owned subsidiaries, and a 
consolidated variable interest entity. The Company uses the equity method to account for equity investments in instances 
in which it owns common stock or securities deemed to be in-substance common stock and has the ability to exercise 
significant influence, but not control, over the investee and for all investments in partnerships or limited liability companies 
where the investee maintains separate capital accounts for each investor. Investments in which the Company holds 
securities that are not in-substance common stock, or holds common stock or in-substance common stock, but has little 
or no influence are accounted for using the cost method. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have 
been eliminated.

On June 18, 2012, the Company completed a two-for-one split of its outstanding shares of common stock in the form 
of a stock dividend. Each stockholder of record received one additional share of common stock for each share of 
common stock owned at the close of business on May 31, 2012. Share numbers and per share amounts presented in 
the accompanying consolidated financial statements and these notes thereto for dates before June 18, 2012 have been 
restated to reflect the impact of the stock split.

Correction of Prior Period Financial Statements

Software Cost Capitalization Errors
During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014, the Company identified errors related to prior periods. These errors were 
attributable to the omission of certain payroll-related benefits from the Company’s capitalization of software development 
costs. The impact of the errors in the prior periods was not material to the Company in any of those periods; however, 
an adjustment to correct the aggregate amount of the prior period errors would have been material to the Company’s 
current year statement of income. The Company has applied the guidance for accounting changes and error correction 
and has corrected these errors for all prior periods presented by revising the consolidated financial statements and other 
financial information included herein. The Company has also corrected an error related to the timing of a prior period 
acquisition-related earn-out fair value adjustment. The understatement of the liability of $1.0 million as of March 31, 2012 
was corrected during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013. In connection with the revision for the software cost 
capitalization error, the Company has revised the affected financial statements to correct the error in the proper period. 
Periods not presented herein will be revised, as applicable, as they are included in future filings.
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The following are the previously stated and corrected balances of the affected line items of the consolidated statements 
of operations, consolidated cash flows, and consolidated balance sheets presented in this Annual Report for the periods 
or as of the date presented (in thousands):

Year Ended March 31, 2013
As Reported Adjustments As Adjusted

Cost of services, excluding depreciation and amortization $ 240,037 $ (2,432) $ 237,605
Depreciation and amortization 19,885 423 20,308
Operating income, net 43,466 2,009 45,475
Income from continuing operations before provision for income taxes 
 and equity in loss of unconsolidated entities 46,070 2,009 48,079
Provision for income taxes (17,259) (764) (18,023)
Net income before allocation to noncontrolling interest 22,055 1,245 23,300
Net income attributable to common stockholders 22,163 1,245 23,408
Earnings per share:
Net income attributable to common stockholders per share—basic $ 0.64 $ 0.03 $ 0.67
Net income attributable to common stockholders per share—diluted $ 0.61 $ 0.03 $ 0.64
Comprehensive income 22,218 1,245 23,463

Statement of cash flows:
Net income before allocation to noncontrolling interest $ 22,055 $ 1,245 $ 23,300
Depreciation and amortization 19,885 423 20,308
Deferred income taxes 261 380 641
Other long-term liabilities (7,499) — (7,499)
Net cash provided by operating activities 81,827 1,434 83,261
Purchases of property and equipment (35,545) (1,434) (36,979)
Net cash used in investing activities (105,467) (1,434) (106,901)

Year Ended March 31, 2012
As Reported Adjustments As Adjusted

Cost of services, excluding depreciation and amortization $ 198,112 $ (175) $ 197,937
Depreciation and amortization 14,108 161 14,269
Operating income, net 36,358 14 36,372
Income from continuing operations before provision for income taxes 
 and equity in loss of unconsolidated entities 39,392 14 39,406
Provision for income taxes (15,203) (4) (15,207)
Net income before allocation to noncontrolling interest 25,293 10 25,303
Net income attributable to common stockholders 25,293 10 25,303
Earnings per share:
Net income attributable to common stockholders per share—basic $ 0.77 $ — $ 0.77
Net income attributable to common stockholders per share—diluted $ 0.73 $ — $ 0.73
Comprehensive income 26,619 10 26,629

Statement of cash flows:
Net income before allocation to noncontrolling interest $ 25,293 $ 10 $ 25,303
Depreciation and amortization 14,656 161 14,817
Deferred income taxes (85) 389 304
Other long-term liabilities 5,950 1,000 6,950
Net cash provided by operating activities 92,732 1,175 93,907
Purchases of property and equipment (29,194) (1,175) (30,369)
Net cash used in investing activities (87,555) (1,175) (88,730)
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As of March 31, 2013
As Reported Adjustments As Adjusted

Property and equipment, net $ 71,174 $ 2,398 $ 73,572
Deferred income taxes, net of current portion 3,888 (895) 2,993
Total assets 896,430 1,503 897,933
Accumulated deficit (95,809) 1,503 (94,306)
Total stockholders’ equity 281,317 1,503 282,820
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 896,430 1,503 897,933

Membership Fees Receivable and Deferred Revenue Errors
During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014, the Company identified immaterial errors in previously reported amounts 
of membership fees receivable and deferred revenue. The consolidated balance sheet at March 31, 2013 was adjusted 
to correct these errors resulting in an increase in membership fees receivable of $18.7 million, an increase in current 
deferred revenue of $11.8 million, and an increase in deferred revenue, net of current of $6.9 million. The amounts 
presented above “as reported” as of March 31, 2013 reflect these previous error corrections.

Similar errors affecting membership fees receivable and deferred revenue were identified and corrected in the consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, 
the operating cash outflow related to membership fees receivable as reported of $104.2 million was decreased by 
$0.5 million and the operating cash inflow related to deferred revenue as reported of $132.3 million was decreased by 
the same amount. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013, the operating cash outflow related to membership fees 
receivable as reported of $68.4 million was increased by $19.3 million and the operating cash inflow related to deferred 
revenue as reported of $90.8 million was increased by the same amount. These error corrections are not included in the 
error corrections summarized above.

These corrections have no effect on the previously reported consolidated statements of income or stockholders’ equity 
for any period. The errors affected only balances within changes in working capital reported in cash flows from operating 
activities. Total cash flows from operating activities were unaffected by the corrections.

Use of Estimates in Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements
The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). These accounting principles require the Company to make 
certain estimates, judgments, and assumptions. For cases where the Company is required to make certain estimates, 
judgments, and assumptions, the Company believes that the estimates, judgments, and assumptions upon which it 
relies are reasonable based upon information available to the Company at the time that these estimates, judgments, and 
assumptions are made. These estimates, judgments, and assumptions can affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities as of the date of the financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the 
periods presented. To the extent there are material differences between these estimates, judgments, or assumptions 
and actual results, the Company’s financial statements will be affected. The Company’s estimates, judgments, and 
assumptions may include: estimates of bad debt reserves; estimates to establish employee bonus and commission 
accruals; estimates of the fair value of contingent earn-out liabilities; estimates of the useful lives of acquired or internally 
developed intangible assets; estimates of the fair value of goodwill and intangibles and evaluation of impairment; 
determination of when investment impairments are other-than-temporary; estimates of the recoverability of deferred tax 
assets; and estimates of the potential for future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company’s 
financial statements or tax returns.

Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities
Included in cash equivalents are marketable securities with original maturities of three months or less at purchase. 
Investments with original maturities of more than three months are classified as marketable securities. Current marketable 
securities have maturity dates within twelve months of the balance sheet date. As of March 31, 2013 and 2014, the 
Company’s marketable securities consisted of U.S. government-sponsored enterprise obligations and various state 
tax-exempt notes and bonds. The Company’s marketable securities, which are classified as available-for-sale, are carried 
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at fair market value based on quoted market prices. The net unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale marketable 
securities are excluded from net income attributable to common stockholders and are included within accumulated other 
comprehensive income, net of tax. The specific identification method is used to compute the realized gains and losses 
on the sale of marketable securities.

Allowance for Uncollectible Revenue
The Company’s ability to collect outstanding receivables from its members has an effect on the Company’s operating 
performance and cash flows. The Company records an allowance for uncollectible revenue as a reduction of revenue 
based on its ongoing monitoring of members’ credit and the aging of receivables. To determine the allowance for 
uncollectible revenue, the Company examines its collections history, the age of accounts receivable in question, any 
specific member collection issues that have been identified, general market conditions, and current economic trends. 
Membership fees receivable balances are not collateralized.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures, equipment, capitalized internal use 
software development costs, and acquired developed technology. Property and equipment is stated at cost, less 
accumulated depreciation and amortization. In certain membership programs, the Company provides software 
applications under a hosting arrangement where the software application resides on the Company’s or its service 
providers’ hardware. The members do not take delivery of the software and only receive access to the software during 
the term of their membership agreement.

Computer software development costs that are incurred in the preliminary project stage for internal use software are 
expensed as incurred. During the development stage, direct consulting costs and payroll and payroll-related costs 
for employees that are directly associated with each project are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful 
life of the software once it is placed into operation. Internally developed capitalized software is classified as software 
within property and equipment and is amortized using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life, which is 
generally five years. Replacements and major improvements are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs are charged 
to expense as incurred. Amortization expense for internally developed capitalized software for the fiscal years ended 
March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014, recorded in depreciation and amortization on the consolidated statements of income, 
was approximately $3.8 million, $4.8 million, and $9.2 million, respectively.

The acquired developed technology is classified as software within property and equipment because the developed 
software application resides on the Company’s or its service providers’ hardware. Amortization for acquired developed 
software is included in depreciation and amortization on the consolidated statements of income. Acquired developed 
software is amortized over a weighted average estimated useful life of six years based on the cash flow estimate used 
to determine the value of the intangible asset. The amount of acquired developed software amortization included in 
depreciation and amortization for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014 was approximately $0.9 million, 
$0.9 million, and $1.7 million, respectively.

Furniture, fixtures, and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets, which range from three to seven years. Leasehold improvements are depreciated using the straight-line method 
over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the lease term. There are no capitalized leases included in 
property and equipment. The amount of depreciation expense recognized on plant, property and equipment during the 
fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014 was $5.2 million, $8.4 million, and $11.5 million, respectively.

Business Combinations
The Company records acquisitions using the purchase method of accounting. All of the assets acquired, liabilities 
assumed, contractual contingencies, and contingent consideration are recognized at their fair value on the acquisition 
date. All subsequent changes to a valuation allowance or uncertain tax position that relate to the acquired company and 
existed at the acquisition date that occur both within the measurement period and as a result of facts and circumstances 
that existed at the acquisition date are recognized as an adjustment to goodwill. All other changes in valuation allowance 
are recognized as a reduction or increase to expense or as a direct adjustment to additional paid-in capital as required. 
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Any acquired in-process research and development is capitalized as an intangible asset and amortized over its estimated 
useful life. Acquisition-related costs are recorded as expenses in the consolidated financial statements. The results of 
operations of acquired businesses are included in the consolidated financial statements from the acquisition date.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
The excess cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. The primary 
factors that generate goodwill are the value of synergies between the acquired entities and the Company and the 
acquired assembled workforce, neither of which qualifies as an identifiable intangible asset. The Company’s goodwill 
and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized, but rather tested for impairment on an annual basis 
on March 31, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate potential impairment. The Company has 
concluded that its reporting units used to assess goodwill impairment are the same as its operating segments.

When testing for impairment, the Company first performs a qualitative assessment on a reporting unit to determine 
whether further quantitative impairment testing is necessary. If an initial qualitative assessment identifies that it is more 
likely than not that the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value, additional quantitative testing 
is performed. If the quantitative testing indicates that goodwill is impaired, the carrying value of goodwill is written down 
to fair value. If the quantitative testing is performed, the Company would determine the fair value of its reporting units 
based on the income approach. Under the income approach, the fair value of a reporting unit is calculated based on the 
present value of estimated future cash flows. Based on the Company’s qualitative assessment as of March 31, 2014, 
management believed that no reporting unit was at risk of failing an impairment test that would result in an impairment 
charge. No quantitative testing was deemed necessary.

Other intangible assets consist of capitalized software for sale and acquired intangibles. The Company capitalizes 
consulting costs and payroll and payroll-related costs for employees directly related to building a software product for 
sale once technological feasibility is established. The Company determines that technological feasibility is established by 
the completion of a detailed program design or, in its absence, completion of a working model. Once the software product 
is ready for general availability, the Company ceases capitalizing costs and begins amortizing the intangible asset on a 
straight-line basis over its estimated useful life. The weighted average estimated useful life of capitalized software is five 
years. Other intangible assets include those assets that arise from business combinations and that consist of developed 
technology, non-competition covenants, trademarks, contracts, and customer relationships that are amortized, on a 
straight-line basis, over six months to twelve years. Finite-lived intangible assets are required to be amortized over their 
useful lives and are evaluated for possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable.

Recovery of Long-Lived Assets (Excluding Goodwill)
The Company records long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, at cost. The carrying value of long-lived 
assets is reviewed for possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances suggest the carrying value of 
a long-lived asset may not be fully recoverable. The test for recoverability is made using an estimate of the undiscounted 
expected future cash flows and, if required, the impairment loss is measured as the amount that the carrying value of 
the asset exceeds the asset’s fair value if the asset is not recoverable. The Company considers expected cash flows 
and estimated future operating results, trends, and other available information in assessing whether the carrying value 
of assets is impaired. If it is determined that an asset’s carrying value is impaired, a write-down of the carrying value of 
the identified asset will be recorded as an operating expense on the consolidated statements of income in the period in 
which the determination is made.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company’s short-term financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, membership fees receivable, 
accrued expenses, and accounts payable. The carrying value of the Company’s financial instruments as of March 
31, 2013 and 2014 approximates their fair value due to their short-term nature. The Company’s marketable securities 
consisting of U.S. government-sponsored enterprise obligations and various state tax-exempt notes and bonds are 
classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair market value based on quoted market prices. The Company’s 
financial instruments also include cost method investments in private entities. These investments are in preferred 
securities that are not marketable; therefore management has concluded that it is not practicable to estimate the fair 
value of these financial instruments.
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Derivative Instruments
The Company holds warrants to purchase common stock in an entity that meet the definition of a derivative. Derivative 
instruments are carried at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets. Gains or losses from changes in the fair value 
of the warrants are recognized on the consolidated statements of income in the period in which they occur.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized when (1) there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, (2) the fee is fixed or determinable, 
(3) services have been rendered and payment has been contractually earned, and (4) collectibility is reasonably assured. 
Fees are generally billable when a letter of agreement is signed by the member, and fees receivable during the subsequent 
twelve month period and related deferred revenue are recorded upon the commencement of the membership or collection 
of fees, if earlier. In many of the Company’s higher priced programs and membership agreements with terms that are 
greater than one year, fees may be billed on an installment basis.

The Company’s membership agreements with its customers generally include more than one deliverable. Deliverables 
are determined based upon the availability and delivery method of the services and may include: best practices research; 
executive education curricula; cloud-based content, databases, and calculators; performance or benchmarking reports; 
diagnostic tools; interactive advisory support; and performance technology software. Access to such deliverables 
is generally available on an unlimited basis over the membership period. When an agreement contains multiple 
deliverables, the Company reviews the deliverables to determine if they qualify as separate units of accounting. In order 
for deliverables in a multiple-deliverable arrangement to be treated as separate units of accounting, the deliverables must 
have standalone value upon delivery, and delivery or performance of undelivered items in an arrangement with a general 
right of return must be probable. If the Company determines that there are separate units of accounting, arrangement 
consideration at the inception of the membership period is allocated to all deliverables based on the relative selling price 
method in accordance with the selling price hierarchy. Because of the unique nature of the Company’s products, neither 
vendor specific objective evidence nor third-party evidence is available. Therefore, the Company utilizes best estimate 
of selling price to allocate arrangement consideration in multiple element arrangements.

The Company’s membership programs may contain certain deliverables that do not have standalone value and therefore 
are not accounted for separately. In general, the deliverables in membership programs are consistently available 
throughout the membership period, and, as a result, the consideration is recognized ratably over the membership period. 
When a service offering includes unlimited and limited service offerings, revenue is recognized over the appropriate 
service period, either ratably, if the service is consistently available, or, if the service is not consistently available, upon 
the earlier of the delivery of the service or the completion of the membership period, provided that all other criteria for 
recognition have been met.

Certain membership programs incorporate hosted performance technology software. In many of these agreements, 
members are charged set-up fees in addition to subscription fees for access to the hosted cloud-based software 
and related membership services. Both set-up fees and subscription fees are recognized ratably over the term of the 
membership agreement, which is generally three years, and is consistent with the pattern of the delivery of services 
under these arrangements. Upon launch of a new program that incorporates software, all program revenue is deferred 
until the program is generally available for release to the Company’s membership, and then recognized ratably over the 
remainder of the contract term of each agreement.

The Company also performs professional services sold under separate agreements that include management and 
consulting services. The Company recognizes professional services revenues on a time-and-materials basis as services 
are rendered.

Deferred Incentive Compensation and Other Charges
Incentive compensation to employees related to the negotiation of new and renewal memberships, license fees 
to third-party vendors for tools, data, and software incorporated in specific memberships that include performance 
technology software, and other direct and incremental costs associated with specific memberships are deferred and 
amortized over the term of the related memberships.
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Deferred Compensation Plan
Effective July 1, 2013, the Company implemented a Deferred Compensation Plan (the ‘’Plan’’) for certain employees to 
provide an opportunity to defer compensation on a pre-tax basis. The Plan provides for deferred amounts to be credited 
with investment returns based upon investment options selected by participants from alternatives designated from time 
to time by the plan administrative committee. Investment earnings associated with the Plan’s assets are included in other 
income, net while changes in individual participant account balances are recorded as compensation expense in the 
consolidated statements of income. The Plan also allows the Company to make discretionary contributions at any time 
based on individual or overall Company performance, which may be subject to a different vesting schedule than elective 
deferrals, and provides that the Company may make contributions in an amount equal to the amount of any 401(k) plan 
matching contribution that is not credited to the participant’s 401(k) account due to such employee’s participation in the 
Plan. The Company did not make any discretionary contributions to the Plan in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014. 
The income earned and expense incurred related to the Plan was immaterial for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014.

Operating Leases
The Company recognizes rent expense under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the non-cancelable term 
of the lease, including free-rent periods. Lease-incentives relating to allowances provided by landlords are amortized 
over the term of the lease as a reduction of rent expense. The Company recognizes sublease income on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the sublease, including free rent periods and escalations, as a reduction of rent expense. Costs 
associated with acquiring a subtenant, including broker commissions and tenant allowances, are amortized over the 
sublease term as a reduction of sublease income.

Stock-Based Compensation
The Company has several stock-based compensation plans which are described more fully in Note 15, “Stock-based 
compensation.” These plans provide for the granting of stock options and restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to employees, 
non-employee members of the Company’s Board of Directors and any other service providers who have been retained 
to provide consulting, advisory or other services to the Company. Stock-based compensation cost is measured at the 
grant date of the stock-based awards based on their fair values, and is recognized as an expense in the consolidated 
statements of income over the vesting periods of the awards. The fair value of RSUs is determined as the fair market 
value of the underlying shares on the date of grant. The Company calculates the fair value of all stock option awards, 
with the exception of the stock options issued with market-based conditions, on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes 
model. The fair value of stock options issued with market-based conditions is calculated on the date of grant using a 
lattice option-pricing model. Forfeitures are estimated based on historical experience at the time of grant and adjusted, 
if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. The Company bases its fair value 
estimates on assumptions it believes to be reasonable but that are inherently uncertain.

Other Income, Net
Other income, net for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 includes $2.4 million of interest income earned from the 
Company’s marketable securities, a $0.1 million gain on foreign exchange rates, and a $0.5 million gain on an investment 
in common stock warrants. Other income, net for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 includes $3.4 million of interest 
income earned from the Company’s marketable securities, a $0.5 million loss on foreign exchange rates, $0.3 million in 
credit facility fees, and a $0.1 million gain on an investment in common stock warrants. Other income, net for the fiscal 
year ended March 31, 2014 includes $3.3 million of interest income earned from the Company’s marketable securities, 
a $0.2 million loss on foreign exchange rates, $0.6 million in credit facility fees, and a $0.2 million realized gain on sale 
of marketable securities.

Income Taxes
Deferred income taxes are determined using the asset and liability method. Under this method, temporary differences 
arise as a result of the difference between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred 
tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some 
portion or the entire deferred tax asset will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects 
of changes in tax law and tax rates on the date of the enactment of the change.
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Discontinued Operations
The Company presents the assets and liabilities of programs which meet the criteria for discontinued operations 
separately in the consolidated balance sheets. In addition, the results of operations for those discontinued operations 
are presented as such in the Company’s consolidated statements of income. For periods prior to the program qualifying 
for discontinued operations, the Company reclassifies the results of operations to discontinued operations. In addition, 
the net gain or loss (including any impairment loss) on the disposal is presented as discontinued operations when 
recognized. The change in presentation for discontinued operations does not have any impact on the Company’s financial 
condition or results of operations. The Company combines the operating, investing, and financing portions of cash flows 
attributable to discontinued operations with the respective cash flows from continuing operations on the consolidated 
statements of cash flows.

Concentrations of Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of membership 
fees receivable, cash and cash equivalents, and marketable securities. The credit risk with respect to membership fees 
receivable is generally diversified due to the large number of entities comprising the Company’s membership base, 
and the Company establishes allowances for potential credit losses. No one member accounted for more than 1.5% of 
revenue for any period presented. The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities with 
financial institutions. Marketable securities consist of U.S. government-sponsored enterprise obligations and various 
state tax-exempt notes and bonds. The Company performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit ratings related to 
the cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities.

In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014, the Company generated approximately 3.5%, 4.0%, and 
3.1%, of revenue, respectively, from members outside the United States. The Company’s limited international operations 
subject the Company to risks related to currency exchange fluctuations. Prices for the Company’s services sold to 
members located outside the United States are sometimes denominated in local currencies. Increases in the value of 
the U.S. dollar against local currencies in countries where the Company has members may result in a foreign exchange 
loss recognized by the Company.

Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to common stockholders by the number of 
weighted average common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing 
net income attributable to common stockholders by the number of weighted average common shares increased by the 
dilutive effects of potential common shares outstanding during the period. The number of potential common shares 
outstanding is determined in accordance with the treasury stock method, using the Company’s prevailing tax rates. 
Certain potential common share equivalents were not included in the computation because their effect was anti-dilutive.

A reconciliation of basic to diluted weighted average common shares outstanding is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 32,808 34,723 35,909
Effect of dilutive outstanding stock-based awards 1,742 1,583 1,050
Dilutive impact of earn-out liability 110 — —
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 34,660 36,306 36,959

In the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014, 78,000, 341,000, and 1.0 million shares, respectively, related 
to share-based compensation awards have been excluded from the calculation of the effect of dilutive outstanding 
stock-based awards shown above because their effect was anti-dilutive.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Changes to GAAP are established by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) in the form of accounting 
standards updates (“ASUs”) to the FASB’s Accounting Standards Codification. The Company considers the applicability 
and impact of all recent ASUs. ASUs not listed below were assessed and determined to be not applicable or are expected 
to have minimal impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position and results of operations.

In July 2013, the FASB issued accounting guidance related to income taxes, which requires entities to present an 
unrecognized tax benefit, or a portion of an unrecognized tax benefit, as a reduction to a deferred tax asset for a net 
operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward when settlement in this manner is available 
under the tax law. This guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after 
December 15, 2013, with early adoption permitted. The Company will adopt this guidance for its fiscal year beginning 
April 1, 2014. The Company does not expect the adoption of this guidance to have a material effect on its financial 
position or results of operations.

Note 3. Acquisitions
Care Team Connect, Inc.
On October 7, 2013, the Company completed the acquisition for cash of all of the issued and outstanding capital stock 
of Care Team Connect, Inc. (“Care Team Connect”), a provider of comprehensive care management workflow solutions. 
The acquisition enhances the Company’s existing suite of population health technologies and service offerings and 
affirms the Company’s position as a leader in the care management market. The total purchase price, net of cash 
acquired, was $34.6 million.

The total purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired, including intangible assets and liabilities assumed, based 
on their estimated fair values as of October 7, 2013. The Company’s fair value of identifiable tangible and intangible 
assets was determined by using estimates and assumptions in combination with a valuation using an income approach 
from a market participant perspective. Of the total estimated purchase price, $13.8 million was allocated to accounts 
receivable, $0.2 million to fixed assets, $13.5 million to assumed liabilities, which consists of $4.2 million of acquired 
current deferred revenue, $7.7 million of acquired long-term deferred revenue, $0.9 million of accounts payable, and 
$0.7 million to deferred tax liabilities. Of the total estimated purchase price, $9.3 million was allocated to intangible assets, 
which consist of the value assigned to acquired technology related intangibles of $5.4 million, customer relationship 
related intangibles of $2.8 million, and existing customer contracts of $1.1 million. The acquired intangible assets have 
estimated lives ranging from three years to twelve years based on the cash flow estimates used to create the valuation 
models of each identifiable asset with a weighted average amortization period of 8.2 years. Approximately $24.8 million 
of the total estimated purchase price was allocated to goodwill, which represents synergistic benefits expected to be 
generated from scaling Care Team Connect’s offerings across the Company’s large membership base. Goodwill is not 
deductible for tax purposes.

Acquisition related transaction costs of $0.3 million, including legal, accounting, and other professional fees directly 
related to the acquisition, are included in general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of income 
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014. The financial results of Care Team Connect are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date of acquisition. Pro forma financial information for this acquisition has not been 
presented because the effects were not material to the Company’s historical consolidated financial statements.

Medical Referral Source, Inc.
On July 8, 2013, the Company completed the acquisition for cash of all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of 
Medical Referral Source, Inc. (“MRS”) to supplement its existing physician referral programs and to provide new growth 
opportunities. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired, was $11.5 million.

The total purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired, including intangible assets and liabilities assumed, based 
on their estimated fair values as of July 8, 2013. The Company’s fair value of identifiable tangible and intangible assets 
was determined by using estimates and assumptions in combination with a valuation using an income approach from a 
market participant perspective. Of the total estimated purchase price, $0.7 million was allocated to accounts receivable, 
$0.2 million to deferred tax assets, and $0.4 million to assumed liabilities, which consists of $0.3 million of acquired 
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deferred revenue and $0.1 million of accounts payable. Of the total estimated purchase price, $2.1 million was allocated 
to intangible assets, which consist of the value assigned to acquired technology related intangibles of $1.7 million and 
customer relationship related intangibles of $0.4 million. The acquired intangible assets have estimated lives ranging from 
three years to eight years based on the cash flow estimates used to create the valuation models of each identifiable asset 
with a weighted average amortization period of 4.0 years. Approximately $8.9 million of the total estimated purchase 
price was allocated to goodwill, which represents synergistic benefits expected to be generated from scaling MRS’s 
offerings across the Company’s large membership base. Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.

Acquisition related transaction costs of $0.1 million, including legal, accounting, and other professional fees directly related 
to the acquisition, are included in general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of income for the 
fiscal year ended March 31, 2014. The financial results of MRS are included in the consolidated financial statements from 
the date of acquisition. Pro forma financial information for this acquisition has not been presented because the effects 
were not material to the Company’s historical consolidated financial statements.

360Fresh, Inc.
On November 15, 2012, the Company acquired for cash all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of 360Fresh, Inc. 
(“360Fresh”), a provider of clinical data analytics. The transaction enhances the Company’s existing suite of physician 
performance management solutions through the addition of technology that transforms the data from medical records 
into actionable insights to improve patient quality, reduce costs, and enhance productivity for health systems. The total 
purchase price, net of cash acquired, of $19.5 million consisted of an initial payments of $17.0 million of cash, and the 
fair value of estimated additional contingent cash payments of $2.5 million. The contingent cash payments, which will 
not exceed $8.0 million and have no guaranteed minimum, will become due and payable to the former stockholders of 
360Fresh if certain revenue targets are achieved over evaluation periods beginning at the acquisition date and extending 
through August 15, 2014. Upward adjustments totaling $0.1 million were made to the fair value of the liabilities for such 
contingent cash payments during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014. The total liability recorded in cost of services on 
the consolidated statements of income was $2.6 million as of March 31, 2014. See Note 5, “Fair value measurements,” 
for additional information.

The total purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired, including intangible assets and liabilities assumed, based 
on their estimated fair values as of November 15, 2012. The Company’s fair value of identifiable tangible and intangible 
assets was determined by using estimates and assumptions in combination with a valuation using an income approach 
from a market participant perspective. Of the total estimated purchase price, $0.3 million was allocated to acquired 
accounts receivable and $4.1 million was allocated to assumed liabilities, which consist of $4.0 million of deferred tax 
liabilities and $0.1 million of acquired deferred revenue. Of the total estimated purchase price, $9.9 million was allocated 
to intangible assets, which consist of the value assigned to acquired technology related intangibles of $9.8 million and 
employee related intangibles of $0.1 million. The acquired technology and employee related intangibles have estimated 
lives ranging from four years to seven years based on the cash flow estimates used to create the valuation models of 
each identifiable asset with a weighted average amortization period of 7.0 years. Approximately $13.4 million of the total 
estimated purchase price was allocated to goodwill, which represents synergistic benefits expected to be generated 
from incorporating 360Fresh’s technology capabilities into the Company’s software programs and scaling their existing 
products across the Company’s large membership base. Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.

Acquisition related transaction costs of $0.3 million, including legal, accounting, and other professional fees directly 
related to the acquisition, are included in general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of income 
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013. The financial results of 360Fresh are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date of acquisition. Pro forma financial information for this acquisition has not been presented 
because the effects were not material to the Company’s historical consolidated financial statements.

ActiveStrategy, Inc.
On October 1, 2012, the Company acquired for cash all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of ActiveStrategy, 
Inc. (“ActiveStrategy”), a Philadelphia-based performance improvement technology and consulting firm with innovative 
solutions for tracking and augmenting organizational effectiveness. This transaction enhances the Company’s existing 
performance improvement technology capabilities. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired, was $14.9 million. The 
total purchase price was paid in cash.
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The total purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired, including intangible assets and liabilities assumed, based 
on their estimated fair values as of October 1, 2012. The Company’s fair value of identifiable tangible and intangible 
assets was determined by using estimates and assumptions in combination with a valuation using an income approach 
from a market participant perspective. Of the total estimated purchase price, $1.5 million was allocated to net acquired 
tangible assets, which consist of accounts receivable of $1.3 million, deferred tax assets, net of $0.9 million, and other 
current assets of $0.3 million, net of $1.0 million of acquired deferred revenue. Of the total estimated purchase price, 
$5.5 million was allocated to intangible assets, which consist of the value assigned to acquired technology related 
intangibles of $3.0 million, customer relationship and employee related intangibles of $1.0 million, and trademarks of 
$1.5 million. The acquired intangible assets have estimated lives ranging from four years to eleven years based on the 
cash flow estimates used to create the valuation models of each identifiable asset with a weighted average amortization 
period of 7.2 years. Approximately $7.9 million of the total estimated purchase price was allocated to goodwill, which 
represents synergistic benefits expected to be generated from scaling ActiveStrategy’s offerings across the Company’s 
large membership base. Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.

Acquisition related transaction costs of $0.2 million, including legal, accounting, and other professional fees directly 
related to the acquisition, are included in general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of income 
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013. The financial results of ActiveStrategy are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date of acquisition. Pro forma financial information for this acquisition has not been presented 
because the effects were not material to the Company’s historical consolidated financial statements.

PivotHealth
On August 1, 2011, the Company acquired for cash substantially all the assets of PivotHealth, LLC (“PivotHealth”), a 
leading physician practice management firm. The Company acquired PivotHealth to supplement its existing physician 
practice management capabilities and provide new growth opportunities with the addition of PivotHealth’s expertise in 
long-term physician practice management. The total purchase price, net of cash acquired, of $19.8 million consisted of an 
initial payment of $16.9 million of cash and the fair value of estimated additional contingent cash payments of $2.9 million. 
The additional contingent cash payments, which have no guaranteed minimum or maximum, will become due and 
payable to the former owner of the PivotHealth business if certain revenue targets are achieved over evaluation periods 
beginning at the acquisition date and extending through December 31, 2014. A $1.0 million downward adjustment was 
made to the fair value of the liabilities for such contingent cash payments during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014. 
This adjustment was recorded in cost of services on the consolidated statements of income and eliminated the liability 
as of March 31, 2014. See Note 5, “Fair value measurements,” for additional information.

The total purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired, including intangible assets and liabilities assumed, based 
on their estimated fair values as of August 1, 2011. The Company’s fair value of identifiable tangible and intangible 
assets was determined by using estimates and assumptions in combination with a valuation using an income approach 
from a market participant perspective. Of the total estimated purchase price, $1.8 million was allocated to acquired 
tangible assets, $1.0 million was allocated to assumed liabilities, and $6.4 million was allocated to intangible assets, 
which consist of the value assigned to customer related intangibles of $6.0 million, primarily customer relationships and 
trademarks, and employee related intangibles of $0.4 million. The acquired customer and employee related intangibles 
have estimated lives ranging from six months to nine years based on the cash flow estimates used to create the valuation 
models of each identifiable asset with a weighted average amortization period of 6.5 years. Approximately $12.6 million 
of the total estimated purchase price was allocated to goodwill, which represents synergistic benefits expected to be 
generated from scaling PivotHealth’s offerings across the Company’s large membership base. Goodwill is deductible for 
tax purposes.

Acquisition related transaction costs of $0.4 million, including legal, accounting, and other professional fees directly 
related to the acquisition, are included in general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of income 
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012. The financial results of PivotHealth are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date of acquisition. Pro forma financial information for this acquisition has not been presented 
because the effects were not material to the Company’s historical consolidated financial statements.
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Note 4. Discontinued Operations
On January 20, 2012, the Company sold its OptiLink business for $8.9 million in cash, net of selling costs. The OptiLink 
business employed approximately 35 employees who were transferred to the buyer. The components of discontinued 
operations included in the consolidated statements of income consisted of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

Revenue $ 4,985 $ — $ —
Costs and expenses:
 Cost of services 4,330 — —
 Member relations and marketing 189 — —
Gain on disposal 3,510 — —
  Income from discontinued operations before provision for income taxes 3,976 — —
Provision for income taxes (1,535) — —
  Net income from discontinued operations, net of provision for income taxes $ 2,441 $ — $ —

Note 5. Fair Value Measurements
Financial Assets and Liabilities
The estimated fair values of financial instruments are determined based on relevant market information. These estimates 
involve uncertainty and cannot be determined with precision. The Company’s financial instruments consist primarily of 
cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities, and common stock warrants. In addition, contingent earn-out liabilities 
resulting from business combinations are recorded at fair value. The following methods and assumptions are used to 
estimate the fair value of each class of financial assets or liabilities that are valued on a recurring basis.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. This includes all cash and liquid investments with an original maturity of three months 
or less from the date acquired. The carrying amount approximates fair value because of the short maturity of these 
instruments. Cash equivalents also consist of money market funds with fair values based on quoted market prices. The 
Company’s cash and cash equivalents are held at major commercial banks.

Marketable Securities. The Company’s marketable securities, consisting of U.S. government-sponsored enterprise 
obligations and various state tax-exempt notes and bonds, are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair 
market value based on quoted market prices.

Common Stock Warrants. The Company holds warrants to purchase common stock in an entity that provides technology 
tools and support services to health care providers, including the Company’s members. The warrants are exercisable 
for up to 6,015,000 of the shares of the entity if and when certain performance criteria are met. The warrants meet the 
definition of a derivative and are carried at fair value in other non-current assets on the consolidated balance sheets. 
Gains or losses from changes in the fair value of the warrants are recognized in other income, net on the consolidated 
statements of income. See Note 11, “Other non-current assets,” for additional information. The fair value of these warrants 
is determined using a Black-Scholes-Merton model. Key inputs into this methodology are the estimate of the underlying 
value of the common shares of the entity that issued the warrants and the estimate of level of performance criteria that 
will be achieved. The entity that issued the warrants is privately held and the estimate of performance criteria to be met 
is specific to the Company. These inputs are unobservable and are considered key estimates made by the Company.

Contingent Earn-Out Liabilities. This class of financial liabilities represents the Company’s estimated fair value of 
the contingent earn-out liabilities related to acquisitions based on probability assessments of certain performance 
achievements during the earn-out periods. Contingent earn-out liabilities are included in other long-term liabilities on the 
consolidated balance sheets. See Note 3, “Acquisitions,” for additional information.
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Measurements
Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit 
price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. The valuation can be determined using widely accepted valuation techniques, 
such as the market approach (comparable market prices) and the income approach (present value of future income 
or cash flow). As a basis for applying a market-based approach in fair value measurements, GAAP establishes a fair 
value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels. The 
following is a brief description of those three levels:

• Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

• Level 2—Observable market-based inputs other than Level 1 inputs, such as quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for similar or identical assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; or 
other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

• Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity, such as discounted cash flow 
methodologies.

Assets and liabilities are classified based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurements. 
The Company reviews the fair value hierarchy classification on a quarterly basis. Changes in the observability of 
valuation inputs may result in a reclassification of levels for certain securities within the fair value hierarchy. There were 
no significant transfers between Level 1, Level 2, or Level 3 during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 or 2014.

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurements on a recurring basis and the necessary 
disclosures are as follows (in thousands):

Fair Value as of 
March 31, 2013

Fair Value Measurement 
as of March 31, 2013

Using Fair Value Hierarchy
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1 $  57,829 $ 57,829 $ — $ —
Available-for-sale marketable securities 2 $ 156,839 — 156,839 —
Common stock warrants 3 $     550 — — 550
Financial liabilities
Contingent earn-out liabilities 4 $  15,200 — — 15,200

Fair Value as of 
March 31, 2014

Fair Value Measurement 
as of March 31, 2014

Using Fair Value Hierarchy
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1 $  23,129 $ 23,129 $ — $ —
Available-for-sale marketable securities 2 $ 164,396 — 164,396 —
Common stock warrants 3 $     550 — — 550
Financial liabilities
Contingent earn-out liabilities 4 $   8,750 — — 8,750

1) Fair value is based on quoted market prices.
2) Fair value is determined using quoted market prices of the assets. For further detail, see Note 6, “Marketable securities.” The Company changed the 

classification of its marketable securities from Level 1 to Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014. The investments 
affected by this change are U.S. government-sponsored securities and tax exempt obligations of states that do not have observable prices in active markets. 
The Company concluded that these investments are more appropriately classified as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy. The March 31, 2013 classification 
has been changed to conform to the revised presentation. The impact of this change is immaterial and has no effect on the previously reported consolidated 
statements of income, stockholders’ equity, cash flows or balance sheets.

3) The fair value of the common stock warrants as of March 31, 2013 and 2014 was calculated to be $0.40 per share and $0.44 per share, respectively, using a 
Black Scholes-Merton model. The significant assumptions as of March 31, 2013 were as follows: risk-free interest rate of 1.0%; expected term of 6.22 years; 
expected volatility of 39.38%; dividend yield of 0%; weighted average share price of $1.00 per share; and warrants expected to become exercisable of 
approximately 1,400,000 shares. The significant assumptions as of March 31, 2014 were as follows: risk-free interest rate of 1.7%; expected term of 5.22 years; 
expected volatility of 36.77%; dividend yield of 0%; weighted average share price of $1.12 per share; and a range of warrants expected to become exercisable 
of between 1,000,000 and 1,400,000 shares.

4) This fair value measurement is based on unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and reflect the Company’s own assumptions in 
measuring fair value using the income approach. In developing these estimates, the Company considered certain performance projections, historical results, 
and general macro-economic environment and industry trends.
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Common Stock Warrants
The Company’s fair value estimate of the common stock warrants received in connection with its June 2009 investment 
was zero as of the investment date. Changes in the fair value of the common stock warrants subsequent to the investment 
date are recognized in earnings in the periods during which the estimated fair value changes. The change in the fair 
value of the common stock warrants during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 was driven primarily by a change in the 
underlying value of the common stock, offset in part by a slight decrease in the estimated performance targets that will be 
achieved. There was no change in the fair value of the warrants for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014. The following 
table represents a reconciliation of the change in the fair value of the common stock warrants for the fiscal years ended 
March 31, 2013 and 2014 (in thousands):

As of March 31,
2013 2014

Beginning balance $ 450 $ 550
 Fair value change in common stock warrants 1 100 —
Ending balance $ 550 $ 550

1) Amounts were recognized in other income, net on the consolidated statements of income.

Contingent Earn-Out Liabilities
The Company entered into an earn-out agreement in connection with its acquisition of Southwind on December 31, 2009. 
The additional contingent payments, which have no guaranteed maximum, become due and payable to the former 
owners of the Southwind business if certain milestones are met over the evaluation periods beginning at the acquisition 
date and extending through December 31, 2014. The fair value of the Southwind earn-out liability is impacted by changes 
in estimates regarding expected operating results and an applied discount rate, which was 16% as of March 31, 2014. 
Prior to March 31, 2013, the liability was impacted by changes in the Company’s stock price. The Company’s fair value 
estimate of the Southwind earn-out liability was $5.6 million as of the date of acquisition. On October 31, 2012, the 
Company transferred 112,408 shares of its common stock to the former owners of Southwind to satisfy the component 
of the contingent obligation payable in the Company’s common stock, which reduced the related earn-out liability by 
$5.4 million. As of March 31, 2014, $14.7 million had been earned and paid in cash and shares to the former owners of 
the Southwind business. As of March 31, 2014, based on current facts and circumstances, the estimated aggregate fair 
value of the remaining contingent obligation was $6.1 million, which will be paid in cash at various intervals through April 
2016, if earned, over the evaluation periods which extend through December 31, 2014.

The Company’s fair value estimate of the 360Fresh earn-out liability, which is payable in cash in November 2014, was 
$2.5 million as of the date of acquisition. The fair value of the 360Fresh earn-out liability is impacted by changes in 
estimates regarding expected operating results and a discount rate, which was 19.0% as of March 31, 2014. As of March 
31, 2014, based on current facts and circumstances, the estimated aggregate fair value of the remaining contingent 
obligation was $2.6 million. See Note 3, “Acquisitions,” for additional information regarding the 360Fresh acquisition and 
related earn-out liability.

The Company’s fair value estimate of the PivotHealth earn-out liability, which is payable in cash, was $2.9 million as of the 
date of acquisition. The estimated aggregate fair value of the contingent obligation for PivotHealth as of March 31, 2014 
was $0. The fair value of the PivotHealth earn-out liability is impacted by changes in estimates regarding expected 
operating results as of March 31, 2014. See Note 3, “Acquisitions,” for additional information regarding the PivotHealth 
acquisition and related earn-out liability.
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Changes in the fair value of the contingent earn-out liabilities subsequent to the acquisition date, including changes 
arising from events that occurred after the acquisition date, such as changes in the Company’s estimate of performance 
achievements, discount rates, and stock price, are recognized in earnings in the periods during which the estimated fair 
value changes. The following table represents a reconciliation of the change in the contingent earn-out liabilities for the 
fiscal years ended March 31, 2013 and 2014 (in thousands):

As of March 31,
2013 2014

Beginning balance $ 21,200 $ 15,200
 Fair value change in Southwind contingent earn-out liability 1 5,600 (3,350)
 Fair value change in Cielo contingent earn-out liability 1 400 —
 Fair value change in 360 Fresh contingent earn-out liability 1 — 100
 Fair value change in PivotHealth contingent earn-out liability 1 (2,200) (1,000)
 Southwind earn-out payment (10,600) (2,200)
 Cielo earn-out payment (1,700) —
 Addition of 360Fresh contingent earn-out liability 2,500 —
Ending balance $ 15,200 $ 8,750

1) Amounts were recognized in cost of services on the consolidated statements of income.

Non-recurring Fair Value Measurements
During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014, the Company recognized a gain of $4.0 million on the conversion of notes 
receivable from Evolent Health, Inc., (“Evolent”) into Series B convertible preferred stock of Evolent Health LLC (“Evolent 
LLC”). See Note 10, “Investments in and advances to unconsolidated entities,” for additional information. The amount of 
the gain was based on the excess of the fair value of the Series B convertible preferred stock received over the carrying 
value of the notes receivable exchanged. The fair value of the Series B convertible preferred stock used to calculate 
the gain was determined by reference to the per share price of issuances of the Series B convertible preferred stock by 
Evolent LLC to a third party at the same time as the Company exchanged its notes receivable. As this transaction was 
not made in an active market, this measure is considered a Level 2 fair value measurement. 

Non-Financial Assets and Liabilities
Certain assets and liabilities are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but instead are measured at fair value 
on a non-recurring basis, so that such assets and liabilities are subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances 
(e.g., when there is evidence of impairment). During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2013 and 2014, no fair value 
adjustments or material fair value measurements were required for non-financial assets or liabilities.

Note 6. Marketable Securities
The aggregate value, amortized cost, gross unrealized gains, and gross unrealized losses on available-for-sale 
marketable securities are as follows (in thousands):

As of March 31, 2014

Fair 
Value

Amortized 
Cost

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses
U.S. government-sponsored enterprises $ 29,291 $ 30,344 $ — $ 1,053
Tax exempt obligations of states 135,105 136,653 1,060 2,608

$ 164,396 $ 166,997 $ 1,060 $ 3,661

As of March 31, 2013

Fair 
Value

Amortized 
Cost

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses
U.S. government-sponsored enterprises $ 25,430 $ 25,347 $ 83 $ —
Tax exempt obligations of states 131,409 129,550 2,715 856

$ 156,839 $ 154,897 $ 2,798 $ 856



ANNUAL REPORT / 2014 55

The following table summarizes marketable securities maturities (in thousands):
As of March 31, 2014

Fair 
Market 
Value

Amortized
Cost

Matures in less than 1 year $ 2,426 $ 2,404
Matures after 1 year through 5 years 44,867 44,536
Matures after 5 years through 10 years 87,956 89,436
Matures after 10 years through 20 years 29,147 30,621

$ 164,396 $ 166,997

The following tables show the gross unrealized losses and fair value of the Company’s investments as of March 31, 2014 
with unrealized losses that are not deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired, aggregated by investment category 
and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position (in thousands):

Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or More Total

Fair 
Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses
Fair 

Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses
Fair 

Value

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses
U.S. government-sponsored 
 enterprises $ 26,828 $ 1,016 $ 2,463 $ 37 $ 29,291 $ 1,053
Tax exempt obligations of states 53,617 841 42,865 1,767 96,482 2,608

$ 80,445 $ 1,857 $ 45,328 $ 1,804 $ 125,773 $ 3,661

The were $0.5 million in gross realized gains on sales of available-for-sale investments and $0.4 million in gross realized 
losses on sales of available-for-sale investments for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014. There were no gross realized 
gains or losses on sales of available-for-sale investments for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2013. 

The weighted average maturity on all marketable securities held by the Company as of March 31, 2014 was approximately 
7.1 years. Pre-tax net unrealized losses on the Company’s investments of $2.6 million as indicated above were caused 
by the increase in market interest rates compared to the average interest rate of the Company’s marketable securities 
portfolio. Of this amount, a gain of $22,323 is related to investments that mature before March 31, 2015. The Company 
purchased certain of its investments at a premium or discount to their relative fair values. The Company does not intend 
to sell these investments and it is not more likely than not that it will be required to sell the investments before recovery 
of the amortized cost bases, which may be maturity. There are eighteen tax exempt obligations of states and ten tax 
exempt obligations of U.S. government-sponsored enterprises with unrealized losses that have existed for less than one 
year. The Company does not consider these investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired as of March 31, 2014. 
The Company has reflected the net unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, in accumulated other comprehensive income 
on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company uses the specific identification method to determine the cost of 
marketable securities that are sold.

Note 7. Membership Fees Receivable
Membership fees receivable consist of the following (in thousands):

As of March 31,
2013 2014

Billed fees receivable $ 76,594 $ 87,476
Unbilled fees receivable 299,493 367,271
 Membership fees receivable, gross 376,087 454,747
Allowance for uncollectible revenue (5,766) (6,850)
 Membership fees receivable, net $ 370,321 $ 447,897

Billed fees receivable represent invoiced membership fees. Unbilled fees receivable represent fees due to be billed to 
members who have elected to pay for their membership on an installment basis. All of the unbilled fees recorded are 
expected to be billed in the next twelve months.
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Note 8. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):

As of March 31,
2013 2014

Leasehold improvements $ 29,953 $ 39,425
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 36,502 43,112
Software 65,589 100,808
 Property and equipment, gross 132,044 183,345
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (58,472) (80,888)
 Property and equipment, net $ 73,572 $ 102,457

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for impairment when changes in circumstances exist that suggests the 
carrying value of a long-lived asset may not be fully recoverable. If an indication of impairment exists, and the Company’s 
net book value of the related assets is not fully recoverable based upon an analysis of its estimated undiscounted future 
cash flows, the assets are written down to their estimated fair value. The Company did not recognize any impairment 
losses on any of its long-lived assets during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 or 2014.

As of March 31, 2013 and 2014, the carrying value of internally developed capitalized software was $30.7 million and 
$46.0 million, respectively.

Note 9. Goodwill and Intangibles
Included in the Company’s goodwill and intangibles balances are goodwill and acquired intangibles and internally 
developed capitalized software for sale. Goodwill is not amortized as it has an estimated infinite life. Goodwill is reviewed 
for impairment at least annually as of March 31, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. The Company believes that no such impairment indicators existed 
during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, or 2014. There was no impairment of goodwill recorded in the fiscal 
year ended March 31, 2012, 2013, or 2014.

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows (in thousands):

As of March 31,
2013 2014

Beginning of year $ 74,235 $ 95,540
 Goodwill acquired 21,305 33,884
Ending balance $ 95,540 $ 129,424

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which range 
from six months to twelve years. As of March 31, 2014, the weighted average remaining useful life of acquired intangibles 
was approximately 5.6 years. As of March 31, 2014, the weighted average remaining useful life of internally developed 
intangibles was approximately 4.2 years.
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The gross and net carrying balances and accumulated amortization of intangibles are as follows (in thousands):

As of March 31, 2013 As of March 31, 2014
Weighted 
Average 

Useful Life

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net 
Carrying 
Amount

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net 
Carrying 
Amount

Intangibles
Internally developed intangible for sale:
 Capitalized software 5.0 $ 6,438 $ (1,018) $ 5,420 $11,508 $ (2,266) $ 9,242
Acquired intangibles:
 Developed software 6.1 19,250 (4,659) 14,591 19,250 (7,875) 11,375
 Customer relationships 8.1 12,700 (4,735) 7,965 15,910 (6,800) 9,110
 Trademarks 6.2 4,200 (2,118) 2,082 4,200 (2,680) 1,520
 Non-compete agreements 4.3 1,400 (633) 767 1,400 (900) 500
 Customer contracts 4.7 5,199 (3,643) 1,556 6,299 (4,291) 2,008
  Total other intangibles $49,187 $(16,806) $32,381 $58,567 $(24,812) $33,755

Amortization expense for intangible assets for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014, recorded in 
depreciation and amortization on the consolidated statements of income, was approximately $5.1 million, $5.8 million, 
and $8.0 million, respectively. The following approximates the aggregate amortization expense to be recorded in 
depreciation and amortization on the consolidated statements of income for each of the following five fiscal years ending 
March 31, 2015 through 2019: $8.8 million, $6.0 million, $5.5 million, $4.9 million, and $3.7 million, respectively, and 
$3.7 million thereafter.

Note 10. Investments in and Advances to Unconsolidated Entities
In August 2011, the Company entered into an agreement with UPMC to establish Evolent for the purpose of driving 
provider-led, value-driven care with innovative technology, integrated data and analytics, and services. The Company 
provided $10.0 million and other non-cash contributions to Evolent for an initial equity interest of 44% in Series A convertible 
preferred stock of Evolent and the right to appoint one person to Evolent’s board of directors. The Company exercises 
significant influence over Evolent, but does not control Evolent and is not the primary beneficiary of Evolent’s activities. 
At the time of formation, the Series A convertible preferred shares of Evolent were deemed to be in-substance common 
stock. As a result, the Company’s investment in Evolent was accounted for under the equity method of accounting, 
with the Company’s proportionate share of the income or loss recognized in the consolidated statements of income. In 
addition, a member of the Company’s Board of Directors serves as the chief executive officer of Evolent.

During the period from January 2013 through July 2013, the Company provided interim funding to Evolent in the form 
of a convertible term note bearing interest at a rate of 8% per year, with such interest accruing on a daily basis and 
compounded annually. The carrying balance of the note receivable was $4.4 million as of March 31, 2013. The Company 
provided additional funding of $5.6 million during the period from April 2013 to July 2013. The Company’s proportionate 
share of the losses recognized by Evolent during the six month period from April 1, 2013 through September 30, 2013 
exceeded the Company’s investment balance. As a result, the Company’s proportionate share of the excess losses was 
applied to the Company’s notes receivable from Evolent at a rate consistent with the Company’s interest in Evolent’s 
outstanding debt, which was 44%. The carrying balance of the notes receivable was decreased by $4.0 million during the 
six months ended September 30, 2013 to reflect the Company’s portion of Evolent’s losses after the Company’s equity 
investment balance was reduced to zero.

In September 2013, Evolent completed a reorganization in connection with a new round of equity financing (the “Series 
B Issuance”). Evolent’s reorganization included the creation of Evolent Health Holdings, Inc. (“Holdings”) and the 
conversion of Evolent into Evolent LLC, a limited liability company that is treated as a partnership for tax purposes. 
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As a result and immediately following the reorganization, Holdings owned 57% of the equity interests in Evolent LLC. 
Holdings has no other operations other than its investment in Evolent LLC. The Company, together with certain other 
investors, also holds direct equity interests in Evolent LLC, which will continue as the operating company that will 
conduct the Evolent business. The Company participated in the Series B Issuance by providing $9.6 million in cash 
and converting $10.1 million in principal and accrued interest of the convertible term note described above in exchange 
for 1,302,172 Series B convertible preferred shares in Evolent LLC and the right to appoint an additional person to the 
boards of directors of both Evolent LLC and Holdings. The conversion of all outstanding principal and accrued interest 
under the note into equity securities generated a $4.0 million gain. The gain is included in equity in loss of unconsolidated 
entities on the consolidated statements of income for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014. Immediately following the 
Series B Issuance and reorganization, the Company owned 23.6% of Holdings through its Series A convertible preferred 
investment and 11.5% of Evolent LLC through its Series B convertible preferred investment.

On the date of the Series B Issuance, the Company re-evaluated the accounting for its investment in Holdings’ Series 
A convertible preferred stock. The Company determined that its Series A convertible preferred investment in Holdings 
should be accounted for under the cost method instead of the equity method since the investment no longer qualified 
as in-substance common stock. The carrying balance of the Company’s Series A convertible preferred investment in 
Holdings was $0 as of March 31, 2014.

Evolent LLC maintains separate capital accounts for each of its shareholders; therefore, the Company accounts for 
its Series B convertible preferred investment in Evolent LLC under the equity method. During the fiscal year ended 
March 31, 2014, the Company’s proportionate share of the losses of Evolent LLC that was applied to the carrying value 
of its investment in Evolent LLC was $3.8 million. In addition, $0.4 million related to amortization of basis differences 
related to identified intangible assets was applied to the carrying value of its investment in Evolent LLC. As a result, the 
carrying balance of the Company’s investment in Series B convertible preferred shares of Evolent LLC was $15.9 million 
as of March 31, 2014. Because of Evolent LLC’s treatment as a partnership for tax purposes, the losses of Evolent LLC 
pass through to the Company and the other shareholders. The Company’s proportionate share of the losses of Evolent 
LLC are recorded net of the estimated tax benefit that the Company believes will be realized from the losses in equity in 
loss of unconsolidated entities on the consolidated statements of income. As a result of uncertainty associated with the 
realization of the deferred tax assets resulting from the tax benefit of the Evolent LLC losses, the Company has provided 
a full valuation allowance against this deferred tax asset as of March 31, 2014.

As of March 31, 2014, the Company owned 23.1% of Holdings through its Series A convertible preferred investment and 
11.3% of Evolent LLC through its Series B convertible preferred investment. The decrease in the equity interest occurred 
in January 2014 and is a result of Holdings completing a third round of equity financing (the “Series B-1 Issuance”), as 
well as an additional equity investment from a vendor. 

The Company’s proportionate share of the losses of Evolent during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and March 
31, 2013 was $1.3 million and $7.9 million, respectively. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014, the Company’s 
proportionate share of the losses of Evolent was $10.1 million. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014, the 
Company’s proportionate share of the losses of Evolent that was applied to the carrying value of its investment in Series 
A convertible preferred stock of Evolent was $1.9 million. Equity in loss of unconsolidated entities on the consolidated 
statements of income for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 includes a dilution gain of $1.1 million which the Company 
recognized in connection with Evolent’s July 2012 financing round. Evolent LLC is in the early stages of its business 
plan and, as a result, the Company expects both Holdings and its majority-owned subsidiary Evolent LLC to continue 
to incur losses in the future. The Company’s investment in Evolent LLC is evaluated for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that there may be an other-than-temporary decline in value. As of March 31, 2014, the 
Company believes that no impairment charge is necessary.
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The following is a summary of the financial position of Evolent LLC, as of the dates presented (unaudited, in thousands):

As of 
March 31, 2014

Assets:
 Current assets $  78,692
 Non-current assets 20,151
  Total assets $  98,843
Liabilities and Members’ Equity:
 Current liabilities $  35,453
 Non-current liabilities 3,173
  Total liabilities 38,626
 Redeemable equity 78,360
 Members’ equity (18,143)
  Total liabilities and members’ equity $  98,843

The following is a summary of the operating results of Evolent LLC for the periods presented (unaudited, in thousands):

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

Revenue $         — $         — 35,788
Operating expenses — — (54,497)
Depreciation and amortization — — (1,381)
Interest, net — — 16
Taxes — — —
 Net loss $         — $         — $ (20,074)

The following is a summary of the financial position of Holdings (or its predecessor) as of the dates presented 
(unaudited, in thousands):

As of
March 31, 

2013
March 31, 

2014
Assets:
 Current assets $   9,842 $       —
 Non-current assets 10,571 48,172
  Total assets $  20,413 $  48,172
Liabilities and Members’ Equity:
 Current liabilities $   11,716 $       —
 Non-current liabilities 10,116 —
  Total liabilities 21,832 —
 Redeemable shares — 38,680
 Members’ equity (1,419) 9,492
  Total liabilities and members’ equity $  20,413 $  48,172
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The following is a summary of the operating results of Holdings (or its predecessor) for the periods presented 
(unaudited, in thousands):

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

Revenue $   1,480 $  13,082 $ 25,671
Operating expenses (4,445) (36,183) (45,617)
Depreciation and amortization (9) (1,038) (1,208)
Interest, net 7 (149) (820)
Taxes — 333 (8)
Gain from deconsolidation — — 46,246
Income/loss from investments — — (7,141)
 Net loss $  (2,967) $ (23,955) $ 17,123

Note 11. Other Non-Current Assets
In June 2009, the Company invested in the convertible preferred stock of a private company that provides technology 
tools and support services to health care providers, including the Company’s members. In addition, the Company entered 
into a licensing agreement with that company. As part of its investment, the Company received warrants to purchase 
up to 6,015,000 shares of the company’s common stock at an exercise price of $1.00 per share as certain performance 
criteria are met. The warrants are exercisable through June 19, 2019. The warrants contain a net settlement feature 
and therefore are considered to be a derivative financial instrument. No adjustment was made to the fair value of the 
warrants during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014. The warrants are recorded at their fair value, which was estimated 
at $550,000 as of March 31, 2013 and $550,000 as of March 31, 2014, and are included in other non-current assets on 
the consolidated balance sheets. The change in the fair value of the warrants is recorded in other income, net on the 
consolidated statements of income. For additional information regarding the fair value of these warrants, see Note 5, 
“Fair value measurements.” The convertible preferred stock investment is recorded at cost, and the carrying amount of 
this investment as of March 31, 2014 of $5.0 million is included in other non-current assets on the consolidated balance 
sheets. The convertible preferred stock accrues dividends at an annual rate of 8% that are payable if and when declared 
by the investee’s board of directors. As of March 31, 2014, no dividends had been declared by the investee or recorded 
by the Company. This investment is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount of this asset may not be recoverable. The Company believes that no such impairment indicators 
existed during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 or 2014.

Note 12. Noncontrolling Interest
On July 5, 2012, the Company entered into an agreement with an entity created for the sole purpose of providing 
consulting services for the Company on an exclusive basis. The Company’s relationship with the entity is governed by a 
services agreement and other documents that provide the entity’s owners the conditional right to require the Company 
to purchase their ownership interests (“Put Option”) at any time after certain conditions have been satisfied through 
December 31, 2014. As of March 31, 2014, these conditions had not been satisfied. These agreements also provide 
the Company a conditional right to require the entity’s owners to sell their ownership interests to the Company (“Call 
Option”) at any time between July 5, 2013 and December 31, 2014. The equity interest in this entity is classified as a 
redeemable noncontrolling interest, which is presented outside of permanent equity as the redemption is not solely 
within the Company’s control. The redeemable noncontrolling interest is recorded at its initial fair value of $0.1 million 
and has not been subsequently adjusted, as management’s current judgment is that it is not probable that the Put Option 
will become exercisable prior to its expiration due to uncertainty in the achievement of certain performance conditions 
specified in the agreement. If the Put Option were to become exercisable in the future, the estimated maximum total 
redemption amount of the redeemable noncontrolling interest under the Put Option would be approximately $7.5 million, 
which would be recorded as a reduction to net income available to common stockholders in the period when it is 
determined that exercise of the Put Option is probable.
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The Company has determined that this entity meets the definition of a variable interest entity over which it has 
significant influence and, as a result, has consolidated the results of this entity into its consolidated financial statements. 
noncontrolling interest represents the entity’s owners’ claims on consolidated investments where the Company owns 
less than a 100% interest. As of March 31, 2014, the Company has a 0% ownership interest in this entity. The Company 
records these interests at their initial fair value, adjusting the basis prospectively for the noncontrolling holders’ share of 
the respective consolidated investments’ results of operations and applicable changes in ownership.

Note 13. Revolving Credit Facility
On July 30, 2012, the Company entered into a $150.0 million five-year senior secured revolving credit facility under a credit 
agreement with a syndicate of lenders. The Company incurred financing fees of $0.8 million in relation to this transaction. 
Under the revolving credit facility, up to $150.0 million principal amount of borrowings and other credit extensions may 
be outstanding at any time, subject to compliance with specified financial ratios and the satisfaction of other customary 
conditions to borrowing. The maximum principal amount available under the credit agreement may be increased by up 
to an additional $50.0 million in minimum increments of $10.0 million at the Company’s election upon the satisfaction of 
specified conditions. The credit agreement contains a sublimit for up to $5.0 million principal amount of swing line loans 
outstanding at any time and a sublimit for the issuance of up to $10.0 million of letters of credit outstanding at any time. 
The facility loans may be borrowed, repaid and reborrowed from time to time during the term of the facility and will mature 
and be payable in full on July 30, 2017. Consequently, the amount outstanding under the revolving credit facility at the 
end of a period may not be reflective of the total amounts outstanding during such period.

Amounts borrowed under the revolving credit facility generally will bear interest at an annual rate calculated, at the 
Company’s option, on the basis of either (a) an alternate base rate plus the applicable margin for alternate base rate loans 
under the credit agreement, which ranges from 0.75% to 1.5% based on the Company’s total leverage ratio, or (b) an 
adjusted London interbank offered rate (“LIBOR”) plus the applicable margin for eurocurrency loans under the credit 
agreement, which ranges from 1.75% to 2.50% based on the Company’s total leverage ratio. The Company is required 
to pay a commitment fee on the unutilized portion of the facility at an annual rate of between 0.25% and 0.40% based on 
the Company’s total leverage ratio.

As of March 31, 2013 and 2014, there were no amounts outstanding under the revolving credit facility and $150.0 million 
was available for borrowing.

The Company is required under the revolving credit facility to satisfy three financial ratios on a quarterly basis. The 
Company was in compliance with these financial covenants as of March 31, 2014.

Note 14. Stockholders’ Equity
In May 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized an increase in its cumulative share repurchase program 
to $450 million of the Company’s common stock. The Company repurchased 223,438 shares, 385,314 shares, and 
376,532 shares of its common stock at a total cost of approximately $6.6 million, $18.0 million, and $21.9 million in the 
fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014, respectively, pursuant to its share repurchase program. The total 
amount of common stock purchased from inception under the program as of March 31, 2014 was 16,026,626 shares 
at a total cost of $340.9 million. All repurchases to date have been made in the open market and have been retired 
as of March 31, 2014. No minimum number of shares subject to repurchase has been fixed and the share repurchase 
authorization has no expiration date. The Company has funded, and expects to continue to fund, its share repurchases 
with cash on hand, proceeds from the sale of marketable securities, and cash generated from operations. As of March 
31, 2014, the remaining authorized repurchase amount was $87.2 million.

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014, the Company retired 376,532 shares of its treasury stock. Upon retirement, 
these shares resumed the status of authorized but unissued stock. The treasury stock retirement resulted in reductions 
to common stock of $3,000, treasury stock of $21.9 million, and retained earnings of $21.9 million. During the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2013, the Company retired 13,650,094 shares of its treasury stock. Upon retirement, these shares 
resumed the status of authorized but unissued stock. The treasury stock retirement resulted in reductions to common 
stock of $70,000, treasury stock of $307.8 million, and retained earnings of $307.7 million. A total of 16,026,626 shares 
of treasury stock have been retired to date. There was no effect on the total stockholders’ equity position as a result of 
the retirement.
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On May 1, 2012, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a two-for-one split of the Company’s common stock to 
be effected in the form of a stock dividend. As a result of this action, one additional share was issued on June 18, 2012 
for each share held by stockholders of record at the close of business on May 31, 2012. The stock split did not have 
an impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations. Share and per share amounts 
presented in the consolidated financial statements for dates before June 18, 2012 have been restated to reflect the 
impact of the stock split.

Note 15. Stock-Based Compensation
Equity Incentive Plans
The Company issues awards, including stock options and RSUs, under the Company’s 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (the 
“2005 Plan”) and 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2009 Plan”), and issued such awards through September 11, 2009 
under the Company’s 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”). Upon approval of the 2009 Plan by the Company’s 
stockholders on September 11, 2009, the 2006 Plan was frozen with respect to new awards.

On September 13, 2011, the Company’s stockholders approved an amendment to the 2009 Plan that increased the 
number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance under the plan by 2,500,000 shares. On September 5, 2013, 
the Company’s stockholders approved an amendment to the 2009 Plan that increased the number of shares of common 
stock authorized for issuance under the plan by 2,125,000 shares. The aggregate number of shares of the Company’s 
common stock available for issuance under the 2009 Plan, as amended, may not exceed 6,735,000, plus the shares 
that remained available for issuance under the 2006 Plan as of June 26, 2009 and the number of shares subject to 
outstanding awards under the 2006 Plan that, on or after such date, cease for any reason to be subject to such awards 
(other than reason of exercise or settlement of the awards to the extent they are exercised for or settled in vested 
and non-forfeitable shares). On September 5, 2013, the Company’s stockholders also approved an amendment to the 
2009 Plan that increased the maximum term for stock option and freestanding stock appreciation rights awards granted 
under the plan from five years to seven years. Stock-based awards granted under the 2006 Plan have a five-year maximum 
contractual term and stock-based awards granted under the 2009 Plan have a seven-year maximum contractual term. 
The aggregate number of shares of the Company’s common stock available for issuance under the 2005 Plan may not 
exceed 3,200,000, plus the shares that remained available for issuance under the Company’s 2001 Stock Incentive Plan 
(the “2001 Plan”) as of November 15, 2005 and shares subject to outstanding awards under the 2001 Plan that, on or 
after such date, cease for any reason to be subject to such awards (other than reason of exercise or settlement of the 
awards to the extent they are exercised for or settled in vested and non-forfeitable shares). Stock-based awards granted 
under the 2005 Plan have a seven-year maximum contractual term. As of March 31, 2014, there were 2,384,443 shares 
available for issuance under the 2009 Plan and 715,670 shares available for issuance under the 2005 Plan.

The 2009 Plan and the 2005 Plan (the “Plans”) are administered by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s 
Board of Directors, which has the authority to determine which officers, directors, employees, and other service providers 
are awarded options or share awards pursuant to the Plans and to determine the terms of the awards. Grants may consist 
of treasury shares or newly issued shares. Options are rights to purchase common stock of the Company at the fair 
market value on the date of grant. The exercise price of a stock option or other equity-based award is equal to the closing 
price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. The Company generally awards non-qualified options, but 
the Plans permit the issuance of options intended to qualify as incentive stock options under Section 422 of the Internal 
Revenue Code. Holders of options do not participate in dividends, if any, until after the exercise of the award. RSUs are 
equity settled stock-based compensation arrangements of a number of shares of the Company’s common stock. RSU 
holders do not participate in dividends, if any, nor do they have voting rights until the restrictions lapse.

Stock Option Activity
During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014, the Company granted 601,412, 361,844, and 536,958 
stock options, respectively, with a weighted average exercise price of $24.98, $44.00, and $51.71, respectively. The 
weighted average fair values of the stock option grants are listed in the stock option valuation section below. During the 
fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014, participants exercised 1,775,510, 1,477,219, and 1,327,358 options 
for a total intrinsic value of $27.1 million, $44.3 million, and $53.7 million, respectively. Intrinsic value is calculated as the 
number of shares exercised times the Company’s stock price at exercise less the exercise price of the option.
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The following table summarizes the changes in common stock options during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 
2013, and 2014 for all of the stock incentive plans described above.

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

Number of 
Options

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price
Number of 

Options

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price
Number of 

Options

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price
Outstanding, beginning of year 5,059,198 $16.40 3,812,228 $17.05 2,692,353 $21.06
Granted 601,412 $24.98 361,844 $44.00 536,958 $51.71
Exercised (1,775,510) $17.48 (1,477,219) $16.35 (1,327,358) $16.60
Forfeited (72,872) $20.33 (4,500) $ 9.26 (71,630) $32.93
Outstanding, end of year 3,812,228 $17.05 2,692,353 $21.06 1,830,323 $32.82(

1

Exercisable, end of year 680,978 $19.57(
2

1) The weighted average remaining contractual term for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 is approximately three years and the aggregate intrinsic value 
is $57.7 million.

2) The weighted average remaining contractual term for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 is approximately two years and the aggregate intrinsic value 
is $30.4 million.

The aggregate intrinsic value shown in the footnotes of the table above is the sum of the amounts by which the quoted 
market price of the Company’s common stock exceeded the exercise price of the options as of March 31, 2014, for those 
options for which the quoted market price was in excess of the exercise price. This amount changes over time based on 
changes in the fair market value of the Company’s common stock. During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, 
and 2014, 729,182, 710,972, and 850,087 options, respectively, vested with fair values of $3.0 million, $3.8 million, and 
$5.3 million, respectively.

The following table summarizes the exercise prices and contractual lives of all options outstanding under the stock 
incentive plans described above as of March 31, 2014:

Range of Exercise Prices

Options Outstanding and Exercisable

Shares
Weighted Average 

Exercise Price

Weighted Average 
Remaining Contractual 

Life—Years
$ 0.00–$ 9.99 219,906 $ 9.26 2.1
 10.00– 19.99 284,332 16.85 2.0
 20.00– 29.99 471,791 24.62 2.9
 30.00– 39.99 5,000 34.06 2.7
 40.00– 49.99 730,776 46.15 4.3
 50.00– 59.99 11,253 57.88 6.4
 60.00– 69.99 107,265 66.06 6.9
$ 0.00–$69.99 1,830,323 $32.82 3.5

Restricted Stock Unit Activity
During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014, the Company granted 464,700, 342,240, and 550,384 
RSUs, respectively, the majority of which vest in four equal annual installments on the anniversary of the grant date. The 
valuation of RSUs is determined as the fair market value of the underlying shares on the date of grant. The weighted 
average grant date fair value of RSUs granted for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014 was $24.81, 
$44.39, and $53.64, respectively. During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014, participants vested 
in 226,168, 292,020, and 346,310 RSUs, respectively, for a total intrinsic value of $7.2 million, $13.6 million, and $17.2 
million, respectively. Intrinsic value is calculated as the number of shares vested times the Company’s closing stock price 
at the vesting date. Of the RSUs vested in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014, 75,662, 89,155, and 
119,108 shares, respectively, were withheld to satisfy minimum employee tax withholding.
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The following table summarizes the changes in RSUs during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014 for 
all of the stock incentive plans described above.

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

Number 
of RSUs

Weighted 
Average 

Grant Date 
Fair Value

Number 
of RSUs

Weighted 
Average 

Grant Date 
Fair Value

Number 
of RSUs

Weighted 
Average 

Grant Date 
Fair Value

Non-vested, beginning of year 664,218 $17.34 896,640 $20.77 943,206 $29.50
Granted 464,700 $24.81 342,240 $44.39 550,384 $53.64
Forfeited (6,110) $23.53 (3,654) $19.98 (36,818) $39.88
Vested (226,168) $18.92 (292,020) $20.26 (346,310) $26.53
Non-vested, end of year 896,640 $20.77 943,206 $29.50 1,110,462 $42.05

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The Company sponsors an employee stock purchase plan (“ESPP”) for all eligible employees. Under the ESPP, employees 
authorize payroll deductions from 1% to 15% of their eligible compensation to purchase shares of the Company’s common 
stock. Under the ESPP, shares of the Company’s common stock may be purchased at the end of each fiscal quarter 
at 95% of the closing price of the Company’s common stock. A total of 1,684,000 shares of the Company’s common 
stock are authorized under the ESPP. As of March 31, 2014, a total of 1,487,207 shares were available for issuance 
under the ESPP. During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014, the Company issued 6,684, 7,748, and 
8,962 shares, respectively, under the ESPP at an average price of $33.17, $46.77, and $57.31 per share, respectively. 
The compensation expense related to the ESPP recorded in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014 was 
not material to the consolidated financial statements.

Valuation Assumptions and Equity Based Award Activity
As discussed in Note 2, “Summary of significant accounting policies,” determining the estimated fair value of stock-based 
awards is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including the term of the 
stock-based awards, risk-free interest rates over the vesting period, expected dividend rates, the price volatility of the 
Company’s shares, and forfeiture rates of the awards.

Stock Option Valuation
The Company calculates the fair value of all stock option awards, with the exception of the stock options issued with 
market-based conditions, on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model. The expected term for its stock options 
is determined through analysis of historical data on employee exercises, vesting periods of awards, and post-vesting 
employment termination behavior. The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury bonds issued with life terms 
similar to the expected life of the grant. Volatility is calculated based on historical volatility of the daily closing price of the 
Company’s common stock continuously compounded with a look-back period similar to the terms of the expected life of 
the grant. The Company has not declared or paid any cash dividends on its common stock since the closing of its initial 
public offering and does not currently anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends. The timing and amount of future 
cash dividends, if any, is periodically evaluated by the Company’s Board of Directors and would depend upon, among 
other factors, the Company’s earnings, financial condition, cash requirements, and contractual restrictions.

The following average key assumptions were used in the valuation of stock options granted in each respective period:

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

Stock option grants:
 Risk-free interest rate 0.66%–2.22% 0.43%–1.15% 0.34%–1.71%
 Expected lives in years 3.00–5.25 3.25–5.50 3.25–5.50
 Expected volatility 36.7%–41.6% 33.2%–40.7% 30.4%–38.0%
 Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Weighted average exercise price of options granted $24.98 $44.00 $51.71
Weighted average grant date fair value of options granted $ 8.24 $13.33 $14.77
Number of options granted 601,412 361,844 536,958
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Valuation for Restricted Stock Units
RSUs are valued at the grant date closing price of the Company’s common stock as reported by The NASDAQ Stock 
Market LLC (“NASDAQ”).

Valuation for Employee Stock Purchase Rights
The value of employee stock purchase rights for shares of stock purchased under the ESPP is determined as the fair 
market value of the underlying shares on the date of purchase as determined by the closing price of the Company’s 
common stock as reported by NASDAQ, less the purchase price, which is 95% of the closing price of the Company’s 
common stock. The ESPP enrollment begins on the first day of the quarter. Stock purchases occur on the last day of the 
quarter, with only eligible employee payroll deductions for the period used to calculate the shares purchased. There is no 
estimate of grant date fair value or estimated forfeitures, since actual compensation expense was recorded in the period 
on the purchase date. The fair value of employee stock purchase rights is equivalent to a 5% discount of the purchase 
date closing price.

Forfeitures
Forfeitures are estimated based on historical experience at the time of grant and adjusted, if necessary, in subsequent 
periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Stock-based compensation expense is recognized on a 
straight-line basis, net of an estimated forfeiture rate, for only those shares expected to vest over the requisite service 
period of the award, which is generally the option vesting term, and can range from six months to four years. Changes 
in estimated forfeitures will be recognized through a cumulative catch-up adjustment in the period of change and will 
also impact the amount of compensation expense to be recognized in future periods. The Company analyzes forfeiture 
rates using four separate groups, one group for members of the Company’s Board of Directors, two separate groups 
of executives based on seniority, and one group for general employees. In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014, the 
Company decreased its estimated forfeiture rate for the general employee group from 15%, to 10%. Forfeiture rates for 
the remaining groups are 0%, 1%, and 5% for members of the Company’s Board of Directors and two separate groups 
of executives based on seniority, respectively.

Compensation Expense
The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense in the following consolidated statements of income line 
items for stock options and RSUs and for shares issued under the Company’s ESPP, for the fiscal years ended March 
31, 2012, 2013, and 2014 (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

Stock-based compensation expense included in:
Costs and expenses:
 Cost of services $ 3,440 $ 3,975 $ 5,527
 Member relations and marketing 2,133 2,643 3,688
 General and administrative 6,413 7,295 9,002
 Depreciation and amortization — — —
 Total costs and expenses 11,986 13,913 18,217
  Operating income (11,986) (13,913) (18,217)
  Net income attributable to common stockholders $ (7,359) $ (8,686) $ (11,204)
  Impact on diluted earnings per share $ (0.21) $ (0.24) $ (0.30)

There are no stock-based compensation costs capitalized as part of the cost of an asset.
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Stock-based compensation expense by award type is shown below (in thousands):

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

Stock-based compensation expense by award type:
 Stock options $ 5,072 $ 5,000 $ 4,846
 Restricted stock units 6,914 8,913 13,371
 Employee stock purchase rights — — —
Total stock-based compensation $ 11,986 $ 13,913 $ 18,217

As of March 31, 2014, $43.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock-based compensation was 
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.9 years.

Tax Benefits
The benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized book compensation expense are reported as a financing cash 
inflow in the consolidated statements of cash flows. Approximately $7.6 million, $20.5 million, and $19.5 million of tax 
benefits associated with the exercise of employee stock options and restricted stock units were recorded as cash from 
financing activities in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014, respectively.

Note 16. Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

Current $ 14,903 $ 17,382 $ 11,413
Deferred 304 641 7,795
Provision for income taxes $ 15,207 $ 18,023 $ 19,208

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount of income taxes determined by applying the applicable income 
tax statutory rates to income before provision for income taxes as follows:

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

Statutory U.S. federal income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income tax, net of U.S. federal income tax benefit 5.5 5.9 6.0
Tax-exempt interest income (1.5) (2.0) (1.7)
Washington, D.C. QHTC income tax credits (3.1) (5.4) (4.0)
Other permanent differences, net 2.7 4.0 3.2
 Effective tax rate on continuing operations 38.6% 37.5% 38.5%
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Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
reported amounts on the consolidated financial statements. The tax effect of these temporary differences is presented 
below (in thousands):

As of March 31,
2013 2014

Deferred income tax assets (liabilities):
 Tax credit carryforwards $ 10,848 $ 11,199
 Deferred compensation accrued for financial reporting purposes 8,592 11,692
 Stock-based compensation 8,548 8,942
 Acquired net operating loss carryforwards 3,279 5,444
 Reserve for uncollectible revenue 2,355 2,812
 Book/tax basis difference in investment in unconsolidated entities — 1,677
 Unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities — 1,270
 Acquired intangibles and goodwill 195 —
 Other 778 1,628
  Total deferred tax assets 34,595 44,664
 Valuation allowance — (1,677)
  Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 34,595 42,987
 Capitalized software development costs (14,648) (22,659)
 Deferred incentive compensation and other deferred charges (5,968) (9,234)
 Acquired intangibles and goodwill — (5,097)
 Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities (680) —
 Depreciation (2,417) (1,616)
 Other (225) (426)
  Total deferred tax liabilities (23,938) (39,032)
   Net deferred income tax assets $ 10,657 $ 3,955

The Company has $15.6 million of U.S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards available at March 31, 2014 
as a result of recent acquisitions. These carryforwards will be used to offset future income but maybe limited by the 
change in ownership rules in Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. These net operating loss carryforwards will 
expire through 2021. The Company anticipates it will be able to use all of its acquired net operating loss carryforwards. 
In estimating future tax consequences, the Company generally considers all expected future events in the determination 
and evaluation of deferred tax assets and liabilities. The Company believes that its estimated future ordinary taxable 
income will be sufficient for the full realization of its deferred income tax assets other than its investment in unconsolidated 
subsidiaries which may generate a capital loss. The effect of future changes in existing laws or rates is not considered in 
the determination and evaluation of deferred tax assets and liabilities until the new tax laws or rates are enacted.

The Company has recorded a deferred tax asset resulting from the book tax basis difference in investment in 
unconsolidated entities. The Company has recorded a $1.7 million valuation allowance related to this asset. 

The Company uses a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold based on the technical merits of the tax position 
taken for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position. If a tax position does not meet the 
more-likely-than-not initial recognition threshold, no benefit is recorded in the financial statements. The Company 
does not currently anticipate that the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits (of which the amount was $0 as of 
March 31, 2013 and 2014) will significantly change within the next twelve months. The Company classifies interest and 
penalties on any unrecognized tax benefits as a component of the provision for income taxes. No interest or penalties 
were recognized in the consolidated statements of income for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, or 2014. The 
Company files income tax returns in U.S. federal and state and foreign jurisdictions. With few exceptions, the Company 
is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state, and local tax examinations for filings in major tax jurisdictions before 2010.
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Washington, D.C. Income Tax Incentives
The Office of Tax and Revenue of the Government of the District of Columbia (the “Office of Tax and Revenue”) provides 
regulations that modify the income and franchise tax, sales and use tax, and personal property tax regulations for 
Qualified High Technology Companies (“QHTC”) doing business in the District of Columbia.

In February 2006, the Company received notification from the Office of Tax and Revenue that its certification as a QHTC 
under the New E-conomy Transformation Act of 2000 had been accepted effective as of January 1, 2004. As a QHTC, 
the Company’s Washington, D.C. statutory income tax rate was 0.0% through calendar year 2008 and 6.0% thereafter, 
compared to 9.975% prior to this qualification. Under that Act, the Company is also eligible for certain Washington, D.C. 
income tax credits and other benefits. As of March 31, 2014, the Company has $17.2 million of Washington, D.C. tax 
credits with expiration dates ranging from 2017 to 2024.

Note 17. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases
The Company leases approximately 70% of its headquarters space under an operating lease (the “Lease”) that expires 
in 2019. Leasehold improvements related to leases are depreciated over the term of the Lease and totaled approximately 
$17.5 million, net, and $25.3 million, net, as of March 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively. The terms of the Lease contain 
provisions for rental escalation, and the Company is required to pay its portion of executory costs such as taxes, 
insurance, and operating expenses. The remaining space in our headquarters facility is under a sublease expiring in 
2017. The sublease contains provisions for annual rental escalations with no obligation to pay additional executory costs 
noted above.

The Company leases office space under operating leases in Austin, Texas; Nashville, Tennessee; Vernon Hills, Illinois; 
Evanston, Illinois; San Francisco, California; Ann Arbor, Michigan; Plymouth Meeting, Pennsylvania; Tucson, Arizona; 
and London, England. The Company also leases office space in Chennai, India through its Indian subsidiary, ABCO 
Advisory Services India Private Ltd. The lease expiration dates are March 2021 for the Texas leases, April 2020 for 
the Tennessee leases, March 2015 for the Illinois leases, August 2017 for the California lease, December 2014 for 
the Michigan lease, September 2016 for the Pennsylvania lease, August 2014 for the Arizona lease, July 2014 for the 
England lease, and December 2016 for the India lease. The Company recognized rental and executory expenses of 
$11.9 million, $14.2 million, and $17.4 million in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014, respectively, 
related to these leases. The Company subleases office space in Nashville, Tennessee. The total of minimum rentals to 
be received in the future under non-cancelable subleases as of March 31, 2014 is $0.2 million.

The following table details the future minimum lease payments under the Company’s current leases, excluding rental 
escalation and executory costs (in thousands):

Year Ending March 31,
2015 $ 13,563
2016 13,200
2017 13,054
2018 10,733
2019 10,382
Thereafter 6,112
 Total $ 67,044

Purchase Obligation
The Company entered into a non-cancelable agreement for the purchase of data. As of March 31, 2014, the Company’s 
minimum obligation in connection with this agreement extends through May 2019. The minimum payments expected 
to be made under this agreement for each of the following five fiscal years ending March 31, 2015 through 2019 are: 
$5.0 million, $5.0 million, $3.0 million, $2.0 million, and $1.0 million, respectively.
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Benefit Plan
The Company sponsors a defined contribution 401(k) plan (the “401(k) Plan”) for all employees who have reached the 
age of 21. The Company provides discretionary matching contributions in the range of 0% to 100%, which percentage 
is determined by the Company after the end of the applicable plan year, of an employee’s contribution up to a maximum 
of 4% of base salary. Contributions to the 401(k) Plan for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014 were 
approximately $2.9 million, $2.7 million, and $4.6 million, respectively.

Litigation
From time to time, the Company is subject to ordinary routine litigation incidental to its normal business operations. As 
of March 31, 2014, the Company was not a party to, and its property was not subject to, any material legal proceedings.

Note 18. Segments and Geographic Areas
Operating segments are components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available and 
regularly evaluated by the chief operating decision maker of an enterprise. Under this definition, the Company contains 
two operating segments as of March 31, 2014. Both segments have similar economic characteristics, provide similar 
products and services sold to the same or very similar customers, and have similar sales and distribution procedures. 
Consequently, the Company has one reportable segment for financial statement purposes.

Substantially all of the Company’s identifiable assets are located in the United States. The following table sets forth 
revenue information for each geographic area for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014 (in thousands):

Year Ended March 31,
2012 2013 2014

United States $ 357,937 $ 434,640 $ 504,211
Other countries 12,408 16,197 16,385
Total revenue $ 370,345 $ 450,837 $ 520,596

Note 19. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
Unaudited summarized financial data by quarter for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2013 and 2014 are as follows 
(in thousands, except per share amounts):

Fiscal 2013 Quarter Ended
June 30, September 30, December 31, March 31,

Revenue $ 104,142 $  110,758 $  116,231 $  119,706
Operating income $  10,365 $  12,490 $   9,736 $  12,884
Income from continuing operations before provision for income  
 taxes and equity in loss of unconsolidated entities $  10,941 $  13,178 $  10,474 $  13,486
Net income attributable to common stockholders $   4,627 $   7,647 $   4,592 $   6,542
Earnings per share:
 Basic $    0.14 $    0.22 $    0.13 $    0.19
 Diluted $    0.13 $    0.21 $    0.13 $    0.18

Fiscal 2014 Quarter Ended
June 30, September 30, December 31, March 31,

Revenue $ 123,216 $ 128,341 $ 131,038 $ 138,001
Operating income $  10,738 $   11,390 $   7,875 $  17,183
Income from continuing operations before provision for income  
 taxes and equity in loss of unconsolidated entities $   11,261 $  12,481 $   8,235 $  17,915
Net income attributable to common stockholders $   3,692 $   9,002 $   3,771 $   8,287
Earnings per share:
 Basic $    0.10 $    0.25 $    0.10 $    0.23
 Diluted $    0.10 $    0.24 $    0.10 $    0.22
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As described in Note 2, “Summary of significant accounting policies,” the Company revised certain items in the 
consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013, and certain quarters within fiscal year ended 
March 31, 2013 to correct an error attributable to the omission of certain payroll-related benefits from the Company’s 
capitalization of software development costs. The impact of the errors in the prior periods was not material to the 
Company in any of those periods; however, an adjustment to correct the aggregate amount of the prior period errors 
would have been material to the Company’s current year statement of income. The Company has applied the guidance 
for accounting changes and error correction and has corrected these errors for all prior periods presented by revising the 
consolidated financial statements and other financial information included in this report. The Company has also corrected 
an error related to the timing of a prior period acquisition-related earn-out fair value adjustment. The understatement of 
the liability as of March 31, 2012 was corrected during fiscal 2013.

In connection with the revision for the software cost capitalization error, the Company has revised the affected financial 
statements to correct the error in the proper period. The correction of the foregoing errors for the fiscal 2013 periods, 
which is included in the table above, resulted in a net increase to previously reported operating income of $1.3 million, 
$0.3 million, $0.2 million and $0.2 million for the quarters ended June 30, 2012, September 30, 2012, December 31, 
2012, and March 31, 2013, respectively. Net income attributed to common stockholders increased approximately $0.8 
million, $0.2 million, $0.2 million and $0.1 million for the quarters ended June 30, 2012, September 30, 2012, December 
31, 2012, and March 31, 2013, respectively. Basic earnings per share increased approximately $.03 for the quarter ended 
June 30, 2012 and $.01 for the quarter ended in March 31, 2013. There was no impact to basic earnings per share for the 
quarters ended September 30, 2012 or December 31, 2012.

The Company has concluded that the errors are not material to any of the previously reported interim financial statements. 
Nevertheless, the affected interim financial statements will be revised when reissued in future periodic filings.

Note 20. Subsequent Events
On May 5, 2014, the Company completed the acquisition for cash of HealthPost, Inc., a technology firm with a cloud-based 
ambulatory scheduling solution to supplement the Company’s existing suite of Crimson programs. The total purchase 
price was approximately $26.0 million. The Company is in the process of finalizing the purchase price allocation and 
valuation of certain intangible assets.
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Management is responsible for the preparation and integrity of our consolidated financial statements appearing in our 
Annual Report. Our consolidated financial statements were prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America and include amounts based on management’s estimates and judgments. All 
other financial information in this report has been presented on a basis consistent with the information included in our 
consolidated financial statements.

Management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. We 
maintain a system of internal control that is designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the reliable preparation and 
presentation of our consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, as 
well as to safeguard assets from unauthorized use or disposition.

Our control environment is the foundation for our system of internal control over financial reporting and is reflected in our 
Code of Ethics for Employees, Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for Members of the Board of Directors and Code 
of Ethics for Finance Team Members. Our internal control over financial reporting is supported by formal policies and 
procedures which are reviewed, modified and improved as changes occur in business conditions and operations.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which is composed solely of outside directors, meets periodically with 
members of management and the independent registered public accounting firm to review and discuss internal control 
over financial reporting and accounting and financial reporting matters. The independent registered public accounting 
firm reports to the Audit Committee and accordingly has full and free access to the Audit Committee at any time.

Management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation 
of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2014 based on the framework in 
Internal Control—Integrated Framework (1992 Framework) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 
the Treadway Commission. This evaluation included review of the documentation of controls, evaluation of the design 
effectiveness of controls, testing of the operating effectiveness of controls and a conclusion on this evaluation. Based 
on this evaluation, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of 
March 31, 2014.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm which has issued a report on our consolidated 
financial statements included in this Annual Report, has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of internal 
control over financial reporting, which is included herein.

Robert W. Musslewhite 
Chief Executive Officer and Director 
May 30, 2014

Michael T. Kirshbaum 
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer 
May 30, 2014

Report of Management’s Assessment of 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries
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The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries

We have audited The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries’ (internal control over financial reporting as of 
March 31, 2014, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (1992 Framework) (the COSO criteria). The Advisory Board 
Company and subsidiaries’ management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, 
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying 
Report of Management’s Assessment of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an 
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and 
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such 
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies 
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect 
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations 
of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on 
the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal 
control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2014, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the consolidated balance sheets of The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2014 and 
2013, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows 
for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2014 of The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries and 
our report dated May 30, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Baltimore, Maryland 
May 30, 2014

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
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Corporate Information

Annual Report on Form 10-K and Investor Contact
The information in this annual report is a summary and should be considered along with the Company’s Annual Report 
on Form 10-K for the year ending March 31, 2014.

A copy of the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ending March 31, 2014, filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, is available without charge. Requests for the Annual Report on Form 10-K and other investor contacts 
should be directed to Michael T. Kirshbaum, Chief Financial Officer, at The Advisory Board Company, 2445 M Street, 
NW, Washington, DC 20037.

Common Stock Dividend Information
The common stock of The Advisory Board Company has been traded on the Nasdaq Stock Market under the 
symbol ABCO since the initial public offering on November 12, 2001. As of July 18, 2014, there were approximately 
23,000 holders of the common stock, including approximately ten stockholders of record. The Company has not 
declared or paid any cash dividends on the common stock since the closing of its initial public offering, and it does 
not anticipate declaring or paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The timing and amount of future cash 
dividends, if any, is periodically evaluated by the Company’s Board of Directors and would depend upon, among other 
factors, the Company’s earnings, financial condition and cash requirements. 

This table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of 
the Company’s common stock as reported on the Nasdaq Stock Market.

 High Low 

Fiscal year ending March 31, 2013
First Quarter ..................................................  $ 50.97 $ 41.76
Second Quarter .............................................  $ 51.93 $ 39.73
Third Quarter .................................................  $ 50.04 $ 42.72
Fourth Quarter ..............................................  $ 55.06 $ 47.51

Fiscal year ending March 31, 2014
First Quarter ..................................................  $ 55.31 $ 44.20
Second Quarter .............................................  $60.43 $ 52.86
Third Quarter .................................................  $ 70.55 $ 59.14
Fourth Quarter ..............................................  $ 70.14 $ 54.79

Corporate Office Registrar and Transfer Agent Independent Registered Accountant
The Advisory Board Company American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC Ernst & Young LLP
2445 M Street, NW 6201 15th Avenue 621 East Pratt Street
Washington, DC 20037 Brooklyn, NY 11219 Baltimore, MD 21202
202-266-5600 800-937-5449
advisory.com
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Scott M. Fassbach 
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Adam E. Grossman 
Senior Vice President

Michael T. Kirshbaum 
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Matthew S. Klinger 
Senior Vice President

Nicole D. Latimer 
Senior Vice President

Michelle S. McGee 
Senior Vice President

Cormac F. Miller 
Executive Vice President

Timothy R. O’Hara 
Executive Director and 
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Charles W. Roades 
Chief Research Officer, 
Health Care

Scott A. Schirmeier 
Executive Vice President

Richard A. Schwartz 
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Technologies and Consulting

Franziska R. Shaw 
Executive Director and 
General Manager

Zachary B. Stillerman 
Executive Director and 
General Manager

Amy S. Stout 
Senior Vice President

Adam R. Spiegel 
Chief Marketing Officer

Glenn P. Tobin 
Chief Executive Officer, 
Crimson

Mary D. Van Hoose 
Chief Talent Officer
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* Member of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors 
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‡ Member of the Governance Committee of the Board of Directors



COVER ART

One of the firm’s values, Force of Ideas, is displayed in a representation 
inspired by binary code, a coding system using the binary digits 0 and 1 to 
represent a letter, digit, or other character in a computer. 

FORCE OF IDEAS: The belief that sound and inspired ideas triumph, serving 
as the leaven to great organizations and carrying the enterprise forward as 
surely as organizational resources, market power, or sheer effort.
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